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Time to live.

We believe in freedom.

That’s why we develop and deliver products that set people free.
So far, more than 6 million people and their vehicles have been freed by Q-Free.

That means more than 6 million people less stressed. 
In a world with less congestion. With less pollution to air and ground.

Our mission continues: To Q-Free the world.
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The Annual Report 2006

Q-Free in brief

• Established in 1984
•  Mobile units for payment
•  Infrastructure for payment transactions
•  Software for transaction processing
•  Present in 13 countries in Europe, Asia, Austral Asia and the Americas
•  200 employees 
•  Market cap NOK 0.8 billion
•  Revenue NOK 387 million (2006) 

The Q-Free technology for RUC (single lane concept)

Vehicle Registration System/ Vehicle Detection and Classification System

Vehicle is detected by the Vehicle Detection and Classification System.  
The associated front Vehicle Registration Units takes a picture.

Vehicle is leaving the Vehicle Detection and Classification System.  
The associated rear Vehicle Registration Units takes a picture.

Electronic Identification System

The OBU initiates communication with the Electronic Identification System. The OBU has finished data exchange with Electronic Identification System.
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  2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Geographic distribution of revenues 2006
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Historical financial development (NOK Million)
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Key figures NGAAP IFRS

Profit & Loss Account (NOK)
Operatimg revenue 254 343 260 843 291 803 509 160 386 942

COGS 87 566 99 478 137 615 233 300 154 104

OPEX 177 863 137 967 154 540 154 174 186 450

EBITDA -11 088 23 398 -352 121 686 46 387

EBIT -29 360 6 549 -18 901 105 372 29 373

PROFIT BEFORE TAX -39 319 7 446 -25 874 118 675 45 024

PROFIT AFTER TAX -31 001 -16 076 -26 811 112 316 33 868

GM % 65,6 % 61,9 % 52,8 % 54,2 % 60,2 %

EBITDA % -4,4 % 9,0 % -0,1 % 23,9 % 12,0 %

EBIT % -11,5 % 2,5 % -6,5 % 20,7 % 7,6 %

Selected balance sheet items (NOK)
Intangible fixed assets 22 255 17 997 11 172 11 780 23 288

Tangible fixed assets 43 855 39 289 37 495 42 083 45 274

Cash 105 017 78 127 58 581 166 518 162 174

Total assets 365 066 338 725 358 851 429 558 426 395

Equity (incl minority ) 278 951 260 429 197 274 241 000 295 505

Intereste bearing liabilities 13 365 10 218 4 469 4 022 3 392

Key figures per share (NOK)
Earnings per share, ordinary 0,74 0,37 -1,90 1,84 0,62

Earnings per share, diluted 0,74 0,37 -1,89 1,83 0,62

Cashflow -0,37 0,57 -0,15 2,70 1,17

Book equity 6,12 5,71 3,90 4,74 5,71

Average no of shares 45 583 45 583 50 618 50 809 51 779

Other key figures
Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) 0,70 0,77 0,81 1,19 0,91

Net interest bearing liabilities 13 365 10 218 4 469 4 022 3 392

Cash flow from operations -33 281 -8 668 39 155 201 082 18 354

Operational investment 17 558 8 179 9 697 15 793 14 951

Equity ratio 76 % 77 % 55 % 56 % 69 %

Gearing 4 % 3 % 1 % 1 % 1 %

Number of employees  242 222 180 181 188
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Governments, the industry and people in general are 
becoming increasingly concerned by the adverse effects 
of traffic congestion on the quality of life, productivity 
and not least pollution levels. Many cities are taking 
action to regulate the use of their transport infrastructure 
and are looking towards road user charging (RUC) or 
congestion charging as powerful and socially acceptable 
tools.  Pilot projects in cities like London and Stockholm 
are showing the rest of the world how positive effects 
can be achieved by RUC, and as a result several new 
cities are considering implementing similar systems. 
This trend adds to the already maturing market for RUC 
in financing of new infrastructure, the need for truck 
tolling in countries with a high portion of transit traffic, 
the demand for convenient car parking and other mobility 
services. For me, this means that Q-Free and other RUC 
suppliers have huge market opportunities in the years 
to come. At Q-Free we have a plan for catching more 
than our fair share of these opportunities and we have  
a will to become the outstanding international supplier 
in the RUC market.

President’s corner
2007 – Speeding up for growth

The Annual Report 2006 : The President’s Corner

The Q-Free team has showed that this plan is highly realistic 
and that we are on our way towards the goal through our 
2006 achievements; increased footprint through first  
On Board Units (OBU) contracts in the UK and Turkey, the 
world’s first smartcard-based integrated transport system 
supplied to the Olympic Games in Turin, the first ever Multi 
Lane Free Flow (MLFF) contract in Portugal, successful 
congestion charging pilots in Stockholm and London, being 
selected as one of two suppliers for a RUC test program in 
China, international awards for innovation in traffic manage-
ment and international recognition for the Company’s efforts 
to introduce aesthetic design as an important element in 
urban traffic management. Based on these achievements 
and our position as one of the most respected companies  
in a fast-growing industry, we strongly believe the foundation 
for our ambitions to be in place.

Q-Free will continue to position itself as the preferred 
supplier of RUC solutions based on the understanding of 
client requirements and needs, and we will increasingly 
broaden our technology base to always be able to offer  
the best future-proof solution in terms of cost-efficiency  
and customer specific demands. The business and system  
know-how that the Company has gained from years of 
international experience, including the delivery of  
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back-office central systems, position the company favourably 
for such a strategy. This does not mean that Q-Free will 
reduce investments related to DSRC technology (Dedicated 
Short Range Communication). In the short term we will 
invest in cost optimizing the current product portfolio based 
on DSRC technology. In the medium/long term a completely 
new DSRC product platform will be launched, having the 
best features and cost efficiency in the industry. 

One of the most important things we need to do to reach our 
goals is to take measures based on our history, experience 
and strong belief, to further develop our team into becoming 
a world class organisation. A world class organisation that 
understands its customers’ needs through a systematic and 
proactive dialog, that develops the best quality products  
and solutions at less cost due to properly planned product 
development, and that attracts the best people. We want to 
increase our competitiveness by displaying an outstanding 
implementation practice, win the majority of the contracts  
as a result of the above and have a local sales organisation 
that understands what customers want and at what cost. In 
essence, a world class organisation is a customer-focused 
organisation with well defined processes in all parts of the 
value chain, and that attracts and retains the best people.

I firmly believe that our strategic positioning, portfolio 
development and process towards becoming a world class 
organisation will put Q-Free on top of a market that will be 
prospering in the years to come. Surveys show that people 
in some metropolitan areas in the world spend more than 
two full working weeks per year in the car during rush hours.  
Climate changes concern people and they want to reduce 
CO2 emissions. Nations will do what is necessary to 
improve quality of life and productivity. We are in the right 
business at the right time. If we keep on doing the right 
things, we will create continued growth and shareholder 
value - I do look forward to an interesting journey!

With my best personal regards,

Øyvind Isaksen

The Annual Report 2006 : The President’s Corner
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Time to live

There is technology that makes life more technical. And then there is the kind that just makes  
life easier. Q-Free technology improves the quality of life in urban areas across the world.
Less congestion, less pollution, less stress.

Quality of life 
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Market and market development
Currently, there are about 60 – 65 million cars in the world 
equipped with On Board Units (OBUs), paying their toll for 
road using automatically. This is about 10 per cent of the 
cars in the world to day.

Approximately 50 million of these cars are for the moment 
outside the relevant market for Q-Free, mostly in US and 
Japan. In the markets Q-Free addresses, we are the definite 
market leader with more than 8,4 million OBUs delivered  
in 18 countries.

Looking ahead, the number of cars in the world is expected  
to double in 2030. As a response to this, there is an increased 
attention among governments world wide on the consequences 
of this growth in road traffic and how to manage it. Key issues 
are financing of sufficient transport capacity, safety, congestion 
and pollution. RUC systems will have a prominent role in 
solving these problems in the years to come.

In May 2006, the US Department of Transportation introduced 
a Congestion Initiative, a national program aimed to reduce 
the congestion problems in the US transportation systems. 
The rational behind the program had a strong message:

“Crisis of Congestion. Traffic congestion affects virtually every aspect of 
peoples’ lives – where people live, work, shop, and how much they pay  
for goods and services. According to 2003 figures, in certain metropolitan 
areas the average rush hour driver loses as many as 93 hours per year  
to travel delay – the equivalent of more than two weeks of work, amounting 
annually to a virtual “congestion tax” as high as $1,598 per traveler in 
wasted time and fuel. Nationwide, congestion imposes costs on the 
economy of over $65 billion per year, a figure that has more than doubled 
since 1993, and that would be even higher if it accounted for the 
significant cost of unreliability to drivers and businesses, the environmental 
impacts of idle-related auto emissions, or increased gasoline prices. 

Traffic congestion also has a substantial negative impact upon the  
quality of life of many American families. In a 2005 survey, for example,  

The Annual Report 2006 : Business Review

Q-Free’s strategic goal is to play an important role in the global run for traffic efficiency.   This will mean less 
congestion and pollution, and the society’s return on road investments can be maximized. Also, this will mean 
improved quality of life and higher productivity. Q-Free can contribute to this by providing advanced solutions for 
Road User Charging (RUC) to its customers throughout the world.

Business Review 

Others
Croatia, Canada, USA, Mexico, Malaysia and Argentina

Q-Free: 
Norway, Sweden, UK, Iceland, Germany, Austria, France, Switzerland, Portugal, Spain, Italy, 
Greece, Turkey, China, Australia, Chile and Brazil

RUC world status



10

Business Review : The Annual Report 2006

52 percent of commuters in Northern Virginia reported that their travel 
times to work had increased in the past year, leading 70 percent of 
working parents to report having insufficient time to spend with their 
children and 63 percent of respondents to report having insufficient time 
to spend with their spouses. In a national survey conducted by the 
National League of Cities in 2005, 35 percent of US citizens reported 
traffic congestion as the most deteriorated living condition in their city 
over the past five years; 85 percent responded that traffic congestion was 
as bad as or worse than the previous year. Similarly, in a 2001 survey 
conducted by the US Conference of Mayors, 79 percent of Americans 
from ten metropolitan areas reported that congestion has worsened over 
the past five years; 50 percent believe it has become “much worse”.”

According to the initiative, congestion pricing on road traffic 
is the most innovative tool to manage these problems.

European reports express the same worries and call for 
action. In The Eddington Transport study, December 2006, 
Sir Rod Eddington advises the British government to take 
actions based upon strong findings: “Eliminating existing 
congestion on the road network would be worth some  
7 – 8 billion GBP of GDP (Gross Domestic Production)  
per annum.” 

In the white paper on European Transportation policy  
in 2001, the EU Commission recommends its member 
countries to use road tolling to finance necessary infra-
structure. Road user charging is on the back of this being 
introduced in several new European countries.

Despite these calls for action, congestion charging and  
use of RUC in general is still in its early days. Statistics  
from ASECAP, which organizes the European road tolling 
companies, show that there are approximately 11 million 
EFC (Electronic fee collection) users in 16 countries in 
Europe (including Morocco), but more than 9 million of these 
are in four countries: France, Italy, Norway and Portugal.  

And even in these four countries the potential for an 
increase in number of users is substantial! Q-Free has 
estimated the volume of OBUs in Europe to be 100 million.

In other parts of the world, road user charging is still not as 
common as in Europe, US and Japan, with the exceptions of 
Chile, Brazil, Singapore and Australia. But this will probably 
change as traffic and wealth increases. 

Based upon these facts and concrete knowledge of projects 
in the pipeline, Q-Free believes that the market for RUC 
solutions will show a double-digit growth in the next years.

Competitive environment
As the RUC market grows, there is an increased competition. 
Different technologies are introduced and new players are 
entering the market. In Asia some countries have implemented 
solutions based on infrared technology, others are testing the 
use of satellite technology (GPS) and/or video based system. 
So far, Dedicated Short Range Communications (DSRC), 
which is the core Q-Free technology, has an unparalleled 
reliability and installed base. This technology is expected to 
play an important role also going forward. However, needs 
and technology will change and Q-Free will constantly have  
to seek to have an offering that meets customer expectations. 

The contracts Q-Free bids for are typically either complete 
system deliveries (eg. comprising system design, roadside 
equipment (radios, cameras, lasers etc.), OBUs, central 
system for transaction handling, system integration and 
related services) or pure product deliveries such as OBUs 
and road-side equipment. 

Q-Free’s contribution to the environment:
Q-Free saved 78 000 tons of fuel in 2006.

The acceleration of a 1.5 ton vehicle from standstill to a nor-
mal speed of 80 kmph requires over 370 kJ. If the car is able 
to utilize 25% of the energy in gasoline, the acceleration of 
this single vehicle requires 34 grams of fuel. Assuming that 
some 6.3 million vehicles pay their toll fare using the Q-Free 
system rather than manual paying that requires a full stop, 
214 tons of fuel is saved every day. For a year, the figure 
adds up to 78 000 tons of fuel.

New projects identified: 
Mexico, Ecuador, Colombia, Peru, Chile, Argentina, Ireland, UK, Belgium, Slovenia,  
Netherland, Polen Denmark, Slovakia, Hungary, Greece,Croatia, Russia, China, India, 
Thailand, Indonesia, New Zealand, Prospects

New RUC projects identified
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For system deliveries, Q-Free typically competes head to 
head with smaller/medium sized system integrators often 
without own products. There are few international players,  
but often the competitors are country specific integrators.  
In this scenario the customer is either a privatized road 
operator or typically an entity controlled by the national  
traffic/road authority.

As often, Q-Free will be positioned as a sub-contractor to a 
system integrator. The scope of work for Q-Free can range 

from a complete RUC sub-system delivery, often excluding  
a central system for transaction handling and total system 
integration, to pure product deliveries. Typical competitors are 
companies with a similar profile to Q-Free – there is handful 
of potential players in this area. Q-Free’s uniqueness lies  
in the combination of the two competitive positions. The 
Company is a highly qualified sub-system delivery partner, 
with system integration experience from implementing RUC 
systems around the world, and can also act as an independ-
ent system integrator.

Q-Free’s competitive edge
Q-Free implemented the first RUC system in the world in 
Norway in 1988. A true pioneer, Q-Free has unparalleled 
experience with implementation of RUC systems in four 
continents. Q-Free has played a prominent role in some  
of the first countries to implement RUC, like Portugal, 
Norway, France and Brazil.

Based on state of the art technology, Q-Free offers tailor 
made solutions for the customer, including OBUs, roadside 
infrastructure and software solutions for payment transactions. 

Q-Free offers total solutions and implements the system in 
collaboration with the customer. Production of all tangibles is 
carried out by partners. Q-Free also takes responsibility for 
service required. Optimizing the supply chain and extended 
service offerings are two important targets for the Company 
in 2007, and a new VP of Operations was hired in late 2006 
to address these challenges. 

The Annual Report 2006 : Business Review

Organization chart

Øyvind Isaksen
CEO

Stein Tore Nybrodahl
HR Manager

Finn Øistein Nordam
CFO

Steinar Furan
QA Manager

VP Per Fredrik Ecker
Sales

VP Geir Ove Kjesbu
R&D

VP Marianne Sandal
Operation
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Product development 
The Research & Development (R&D) department of Q-Free 
has its focus on DSRC technology for RUC. The DSRC 
standards were developed by CEN (European Standardiza-
tion Committee) exclusively for RUC. Q-Free took a leading 
role in this process and developed the first system. A new 
international standard called CALM (Continuous Air Inter-
faces for Long and Medium Range) will be finalized within 
the next few years. RUC functionalities will be integrated with 
other road services, primarily safety, efficiency and infotain-
ment. Q-Free is at the forefront also in this standardization 
work, and intends to remain a leading force in the next 
generation of RUC technology.

In a shorter perspective, the focus is on delivering improved 
products for today’s standard. During 2007, the work with a 
new generation DSRC products will be intensified. The new 
DSRC generation will be launched in 2008.
 
Building on the experiences from the Olympic Games in Turin 
is also vital, adapting the smartcard solution to major credit 
cards. This will give system owners the opportunity to offer 
both more flexible solutions and an extended offering to their 
customer.

Sales network
Q-Free is currently present in 13 different countries. In 
addition to its headquarters in Norway, this includes the  
UK, France, Portugal, Greece, Italy and Spain. In Asia, the 
Company is present in China, Malaysia, Singapore and it is 
also present in Australia. Brazil and Chile are the covered 
countries in the Americas. Q-Free extended its market in 
2006 with first contracts in Turkey, Italy and the UK. The 
Company was also selected for a pilot project in China.

With reference to the market perspectives outlined above, 
the further development of a professional global sales force 
is given high priority in 2007. A new VP of Sales was hired in 
the beginning of the year, and new sales offices in the UK, 
France and Spain will be established during 2007. Q-Free 
also plans to increase market activities in general, including 
activities in Asia and Latin-America. 

Winter Olympic Games 2006: 
The Turin Showcase – a look into the future 

In 2006, the city of Turin and surrounding mountains hosted 
the Winter Olympic Games. Management of the increased 
traffic and congestion on the inner and outer Turin roads was 
an important issue in the preparations for the Games.
The highway operator SITAF and Q-Free worked for two 
years to establish a system that would integrate the in-
creased traffic during the Olympics with car parks and public 
transport through a single device, based on Q-Free technology.

The partners developed the world’s first integrated traffic 
smartcard system providing a portfolio of integrated and 
modular services, referred to the vehicle and to the users 
(Olympic Family, visitors, tourists, RUC), Si.Pass. The sys-
tem is based on smartcard technology, which also opens  
up for the use of credit cards.

The system was a huge success. The road system was able 
to handle a 45 percent increase in traffic during the Games, 
and 7000 visitors bought and used Si.Pass. 

R&D – not only technology

Addressing the increasingly important congestion mar-
ket, R&D is not just about activities related to technology. 
Roadside infrastructure in cities needs to be designed 
to fit into the environment and in many different markets, 
end-users may even be concerned by the looks of the 
OBUs. Q-Free has taken these challenges seriously and 
has designed equipment that matches their surroundings. 
This has created substantial awareness in the industry, and 
the Company was awarded the Sullivan & Frost’s Industry 
Innovation Award 2006 for this pioneer work.

Infrastructure in London      Q-Free-Sao Paulo-Fun
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Congestion charging

Two prominent cities in Europe – London and Stockholm – 
are now taking serious actions to reduce traffic congestion. 
London is still (March 2007) in a trial period, but the experi-
ences have been so positive that the next steps to create a 
permanent solution is well underway. Q-Free was one of two 
test partners and will now apply for prequalification. Next 
decisions will probably be taken late 2007 or early 2008. 

In Stockholm the congestion tax “trängselsskatten” gave the 
targeted results. 20 – 30 per cent reduction in traffic during 

rush hours, and 30 – 50 percent reduction in travel times 
during rush hours is significant both in terms of less pollution 
and better quality of life. Q-Free was responsible for the 
project together with IBM, and delivered the system to the 
customer’s satisfaction. Due to legal issues, the system will 
mainly rely on the use of an automatic number plate reading 
video system, also delivered by Q-Free. OBUs will still be 
offered and will be required for users with special needs.

Operational highlights:

• Double- digit market growth expected
• Review of cost efficiency in the supply chain started
• Building an extended and professional international sales  
 network – new offices in Europe and increased activities  
 in Asia and the Americas

• Intensified work with new generation of products –  
 to be launched in 2008
• Participation in development of a new standard for RUC

Tom jobber med denne!
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Q-Free reduces traffic: In Stockholm, the congestion tax reduced travel time on major roads with 30-50% during rush hours.
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Everyday life should be simple. That’s why our mission is to make RUC technology which 
is so smart and so reliable that users actually never need to think twice about it. It just works,

It just works

Time to live
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Implementation of and reporting on Corporate  
Governance

Q-Free ASA’s management system builds on Norwegian 
company legislation, of which the most important is the 
Public Limited Companies Act. As a company on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange, Q-Free is also subject to the Securities 
Trading Act and the Stock Exchange Act and the accompa-
nying regulations, i.e. the Stock Exchange Regulations.

Stock Exchange regulations stipulate that listed companies 
must publish a report on their principles for Corporate 
Governance in the Annual Report, in accordance with 
Section 1 of the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance, cf. the latest version dated 28 November 2006. 
Q-Free ASA endeavours to comply with these recommenda-
tions. Where the Company departs from the Code of 
Practice, an explanation or comment will be given. 

Q-Free ASA understands Corporate Governance to be the 
principles and guidelines that determine how the Company 
is managed and defines the relationship between the 
shareholders, the Board of Directors and the executive 
management of the Company. These principles and guide-
lines are established to protect the interests of shareholders, 
as well as other stakeholders such as employees, customers 
and suppliers.

The Company’s management structure

General Meetings

The General Meeting is the Company’s supreme body,  
and elects the members of the Board. Q-Free observes  
the notice period set out in the Norwegian Public Limited 
Companies Act, i.e. 14 days’ notice. There are no limitations 
in the Company’s Articles of Association or otherwise, 
concerning the notice period.

The call for the General Meeting is issued in writing via mail 
to all shareholders with registered addresses. To register for 
the General Meeting a shareholder must submit a confirma-
tion in writing via mail, fax, or e-mail (provided the registra-
tion form is a scanned document with signature).

The agenda for the General Meeting includes detailed 
information on the resolution to be considered and the 
recommendation from the nomination committee. Q-Free 
observes the notice period set out in the Norwegian Public 
Limited Companies Act.

To vote at the General Meeting, a shareholder must attend 
or give power of attorney to someone who is attending. A 
power of attorney will only be accepted if submitted by mail, 
fax, or e-mail (provided the power of attorney is a scanned 
document with signature). It is not possible to vote via the 
Internet or any other way. 

Q-Free ASA has established an international business, based on communication systems for road user charging. 

Corporate Governance
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The Board of Directors and the management of the Company 
seek to facilitate the largest possible attendance at the 
General Meeting. In 2006, the Annual General Meeting  
was held on 10 May and shareholders representing about 
14.42% of the share capital attended in person or by power 
of attorney. The Board of Directors has no intention of 
putting forward any proposals to the General Meeting 
concerning changes in the voting procedures.

Nomination committee
A nomination committee was elected at the Q-Free ASA 
General Meeting in 2005. This is in compliance with the 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance.

The task of the nomination committee is to submit a 
nomination to the General Meeting for the election of 
shareholder-elected members of the Board, and to suggest 
remuneration for members of the Board. The nomination 
committee consists of three members who are shareholders 
or representatives acting on behalf of shareholders. Members 
of the nomination committee are elected for a period of two 
years. The General Meeting may pass regulations governing 
the nomination committee, but there are no such regulations 
at present. 

Q-Free is not aware of the existence of any agreements or 
business partnerships between the Company and any third 
parties in which members of its nomination committee have 
direct or indirect interests. The composition of the nomination 
committee is such as to maintain its independence from the 
Company administration.

Nomination committee as at 31 December 2006:

The members of the nomination committee are elected until 
the General Meeting 2007.

Corporate Assembly and Board of Directors:  
composition and independence
The Company is not required to have a corporate assembly, 
according to Norwegian law. 

The members of the Board are elected for a period of two 
years, and the Board currently has seven members (two 
employee representatives). The Chairman of the Board is 
not elected by the General Meeting, but by the members of 
the Board. Q-Free has chosen to comply with the Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act in this matter, although the 
Company recognises that this constitutes a deviation from 
the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, 
which recommends that the General Meeting elects the 
Chairman of the Board. The Chairman is elected for a period 
of one year. In the event that the Chairman is absent or 
legally incompetent to chair, the meeting will be chaired by 
the deputy chairman. The Company’s executive manage-
ment is not represented on the Board of Directors.

Q-Free is not aware of the existence of any agreements or 
business partnerships between the Company and any third 
parties in which its directors have direct or indirect interests. 
The composition of the Board is such as to maintain its 
independence from the Company’s administration.

The female representation among shareholder-elected 
Board members is 40%, which is within the minimum 40% 
target set by Norwegian law.

Svein Goli Hauan Consulting AS 2,107,000 0

Tor Saltnæs Challenge AS 0 0

Haakon Sæter Silvercoin Industries AS 400,000 0

Name Company Shares Options
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Ole Jørgen Fredriksen Chairman of the Board, shareholder elected. Mr. Fredriksen  2002 2007 Shares: 150,000

(born 1950) has extensive experience in the computer hardware and    Options: 200,000

 software industry. He was one of the co-founders and the 

 President and CEO of ASK, later Proxima and InFocus, 

 the global leading projector company. Mr. Fredriksen has 

 lived and worked in Europe and the United States and his 

 expertise includes a unique combination of worldwide 

 product development, manufacturing, logistics/ services 

 and sales and marketing. He holds several board positions 

 from start-ups to listed companies on stock exchanges in 

 Norway, Sweden and the UK. 

Christian Albech  Member of the Board, shareholder elected. Mr. Albech has  2003 2007 Shares: 25,000

(born 1947) long experience from the information and media industry,    Options: 100,000

 and is the CEO of the Nordic pay-tv Company Canal Digital. 

 He is also the Senior Executive Vice President of Telenor 

 Broadcast AS. Mr Albech has extensive experience from 

 board work, including the position of Chairman of the Board 

 of Otrum and Fara, which are listed on the OSE. 

Harald Arnet  Member of the Board, shareholder elected. Mr Arnet is  2002 2007 Shares: 72,700 

(born 1961) currently CEO in Datum AS and in Wega ASA. He is a    Mr. Arnet represents 

 member of the board in PA Resources, and also holds    about 9 % of the  

 several board positions in non-listed companies. Mr Arnet    shares in Q-Free ASA 

 has 20 years experience from corporate finance and    through his interests 

 investments in Norway and internationally.   in the companies 

    Trojan AS, Wega AS 

     and Hermia AS

    Options: 100,000

Kristin Braa  Member of the Board, shareholder elected. Mrs.Braa has  2005 2007 Shares: 0 

(born 1959) been a professor in computer science at the University of    Options: 100,000 

 Oslo and has since 2000 held a position as research director  

 in Telenor R&D department. 

 

Torild Skogsholm Member of the Board, shareholder elected. Torild Skogsholm  2006 2008 Shares: 0 

(born 1959) is the Managing Director of Oslo Sporvognsdrift AS.    Options: 100,000 

 Previously she held positions as political advisor to the  

 Ministry of Environment and Parliamentary Secretary at the  

 Ministry of Transport and Communications. From 2001-2005,  

 Mrs Skogsholm was the Minister for Transport and  

 Communications. 

Pål Rune Johansen  Member of the Board, employee elected. Mr Johansen has  2006 2008 Shares: 0 

(born 1969) been with Q-Free ASA since 2000 and is Senior Project    Options: 45,000 

 Manager in the company. He holds a MSc. 

Anders Hagen  Member of the Board, employee elected. Mr Hagen holds  2006 2008 Shares: 0

(born 1964) an electrical engineering MSc and works as Development    Options: 0

 Manager at Noca AS, where he has been employed since 

 2005. Mr Hagen worked for Q-Free for 13 years (1992-2005). 

Name Position, personalia and competence Service Elected  Shareholding in 
   since  until Q-Free ASA

The Board of Directors as at 31 December 2006:
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The work of the board of directors
The Board of Directors is elected by the shareholders to 
oversee the executive management and to assure that the 
long-term interests of the shareholders and other stake-
holders are being served. The Board of Directors has the 
ultimate responsibility for the management of the Company 
and for supervising its day-to-day business and activities in 
general. The main responsibility is to determine the Company’s 
overall vision, goal and strategy. The Board of Directors must 
also ensure that the activities are soundly organised and 
keep itself informed about the financial situation of the 
company, and ensure that the management handles risk 
faced by the Company in an appropriate way.

The Company has established ethical guidelines. Further-
more, the Board has established an audit committee and  
a compensation committee. 

The guidelines for the Board of Directors is described in  
the Company’s “Instructions for the Board of Q-Free ASA”. 
The purpose of the instructions is to describe the role and 
functions of the Board and the interaction with the executive 
management of the Company.

After the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors 
makes a plan for its work in the coming year, specifying 
numbers of meetings and items to be discussed in each 
meeting. This includes reviewing the overall strategy at least 
once a year, preparing the budget for the next year, evaluating 
management and competence needed, making continuous 
financial reviews and risk assessments based on budget or 
prognoses, as well as evaluating the work of the Board of 
Directors. The Board held 13 meetings in 2006, of which 4 
were extraordinary meetings in connection with share option 
exercises/increase in share capital.

The instructions for the Board of Directors also comprises 
detailed instructions for what information it should receive 
and when the Board should receive information from the 
executive management.

Compensation committee
The compensation committee makes proposals to the  
Board regarding employment terms and conditions and total 
remuneration of the CEO and other senior management 
employees. These proposals are also relevant for other 
employees entitled to variable salaries. The Board makes 
comparisons with other companies when deciding the terms 
and conditions and remuneration of the CEO. The Board 
also delimits the scope of the remuneration of the executive 
management team. 

With effect from 14 February 2007, the compensation 
committee is composed as follows:

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen, Chairman
Christian Albech
Pål Rune Johansen

Audit committee
The audit committee is appointed by the Board, and its main 
responsibilities are to supervise the Company’s internal 
control systems and to ensure that the auditor is independent 
and that the annual accounts give a fair picture of the 
Company’s financial results and financial condition in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

The audit committee reviews the procedures for risk 
management and financial controls in the major areas of the 
Company’s business activities. The audit committee receives 
reports on the work of the external auditor and the results of 
the audit. In addition, the committee reviews the Company’s 
work on Corporate Governance.  

With effect from 14 February 2007, the audit committee is 
composed as follows:

Harald Arnet, Chairman 
Ole Jørgen Fredriksen 
Torild Skogsholm 

Remuneration

Remuneration of the Board of Directors
The Chairman of the Board of Directors receives a fixed 
salary of NOK 175,000 and each shareholder elected 
member receives a fixed salary of NOK 125,000. The Board 
currently consists of five elected non-executive members 
and two employee elected members. The employee repre-
sentatives receive a fixed salary of 50% of the remuneration 
for the shareholder elected members, NOK 62,500. Beyond 
the scope of Board responsibility, Board members could 
from time to time take on certain consultancy projects for  
the Company. Such projects are defined by the Board of 
Directors and occur on a limited basis. Board members  
are compensated for such work separately.

In 2006, the General Meeting authorised a new incentive 
program, including 600,000 options to the Board of Directors. 
It is the Company’s opinion that using share options as part 
of the Board remuneration is a good alternative to a high 
fixed remuneration. Even though the Norwegian Code of 
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Practice for Corporate Governance states that the Company 
should not grant share options to the members of the Board, 
the General Meeting found it necessary based on the above 
mentioned assumptions.   

For more information about remuneration of the Board of 
Directors see note 6 in the Annual Report.

Remuneration of the nomination committee
The chairman of the nomination committee receives a fixed 
salary of NOK 25,000 and each elected member receives 
NOK 15,000. 

Remuneration of the executive management
Q-Frees remuneration policy has always been to pay market 
price for the competence needed. Senior management 
personnel receive a basic salary and are members of the 
Company’s pension scheme. The General Meeting has 
authorised an incentive program for key personnel in the 
Company, and by the end of 2006, 8 employees had been 
granted share options (see under equity and dividends for 

more information about the incentive program). The Board of 
Directors decides the CEO’s salary, bonus, option agree-
ment and terms in the event of termination of employment.  
The bonus and option agreement for the CEO is linked to 
the performance of the Company and the value created for 
shareholders. For more information about remuneration of 
the CEO and other members of senior management, see 
note 6 in the Annual Report.

In order to meet the Company’s goals, all employees, 
including senior management completes an annual perform-
ance evaluation. The Board of Directors also conducts 
performance evaluation of the senior management in the 
Company, and if necessary with external help. Through 
these processes, the Board seeks to ensure that the senior 
management is focused on developing the Company 
according to approved strategies.   

Shares and options in Q-Free ASA held by the Company’s 
executive management as at 28 March 2007:

Øyvind Isaksen CEO 30,000 675,000

Roar Østbø CFO * 35,000 0

Finn Øistein Nordam CFO * 0 150,000

Geir Ove Kjesbu VP R&D 12,500 150,000

Marianne Sandal VP Operations 10,000 150,000

Per Fredrik Ecker VP Sales 0 150,000

Steinar Furan Quality Manager 18,000 45,000

Stein Tore Nybrodahl HR Manager 3,500 45,000

* Roar Østbø was CFO through 2006. Finn Øistein Nordam replaced Roar Østbø as CFO on 1 March 2007.

Name Position Shares Options

Shares, shareholder structure and 
shareholder policy

Equity and dividends
It is Q-Free’s policy to maintain a high equity ratio to provide 
a platform for the Company’s future expansion and growth. 
Based on this assumption, Q-Free ASA does not expect any 
dividend to be paid out to the shareholders in the coming 
years.  

The Board of Directors is not authorised to acquire the 
Company’s own shares.

The Board of Directors is authorised to increase the share 
capital by a maximum of NOK 1,934,932.26 by issuing a 
maximum of 5,091,927 shares (10%) each with a par value 

of NOK 0.38. The Board is authorised to waive the share-
holders’ rights of pre-emption according to the Public Limited 
Companies Act, Sections 10-4 and 10-5, and to determine 
that non-cash share deposits shall be made, hereunder 
including mergers according to the Public Limited Compa-
nies Act section 13-5. The Board of Directors is authorised 
to determine the terms and conditions for the subscription of 
shares, and to amend the Company’s Articles of Association 
to reflect the increase of the share capital at all times. The 
authorisation shall be valid until the next ordinary General 
Meeting, but not beyond 30 June 2007.

The Board of Directors is authorised to increase the share 
capital of the Company by issuing new shares to key 
personnel (incentive program). The share capital may be 
increased by a maximum of NOK 969,000, by issuing a 
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maximum of 2,550,000 shares (approximately 5 %), through 
one or more private placements with cash deposits towards 
key personnel, management and Board members elected by 
the shareholders of Q-Free ASA. The Board is authorised to 
waive the shareholders’ rights of pre-emption according to 
the Public Limited Companies Act, Sections 10-4 and 10-5. 
The mandate applies from 10 May 2006 and for a period of 
two years, which departs from the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance – recommending that 
such mandates should be given for a time period of maxi-
mum one year. It is Q-Free’s opinion that the Codes of 
Practice are too rigid in this matter. If Q-Free were to follow 
the recommendation, the Company would have been 
constrained to hold the subsequent ordinary General 
Meeting within one year from the General Meeting during 
which the mandate was given.

The authorisation regards the implementation of a share 
options scheme in Q-Free ASA, which runs for a period of  
3 years for key personnel and management, and 2 years for 
shareholder elected Board members. The authorisation must 
be renewed either in 2007 or 2008, as the authorisation is 
given for a maximum of two years. A maximum of 600,000 
shares are reserved for shareholder elected Board members, 

and the remaining 1,950,000 shares are reserved for the 
share options scheme for key personnel and management. 
No option premium will be paid out. The strike price shall 
equal the average rate for the Q-Free ASA shares on the 
Oslo Stock Exchange as at closing time the last 14 days 
prior to and the first 14 days following the ordinary General 
Meeting in the same year as the subscription of the shares. 
For key personnel and management who are awarded 
option rights for a period of 3 years, as much as 1/3 of the 
options can be exercised annually. Consequently, as much 
as ½ of the options can be exercised annually for Board 
members elected by the shareholders. For newly employed 
key personnel, management and Board members, the strike 
price will be determined on the day they join the share 
options scheme. Reservations are made pending the 
approval of General Meetings in 2007 and 2008 for the 
proposed final part of the scheme. Furthermore, the 
intervals for the exercise of the options shall be determined.   

See note 6 for more information about the incentive  
program.

An overview of currently running option schemes is given 
below:

Issue date Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Total
  02.05.07-07.05.09 02.11.07-07.05.09 02.11.08-07.05.09

 No. Price No. Price   

14.06.06 650,000 22,04 650,000 NA* 350,000 NA** 1,650,000

01.12.06 50,000 20,50 50,000 NA* 50,000 NA** 150,000

* The strike price shall equal to the average rate for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange on closing time the last 14 days  
 prior to and the first 14 days subsequent to the ordinary General Meeting in 2007.

** The strike price shall equal to the average rate for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange on closing time the last 14 days  
 prior to and the first 14 days subsequent to the ordinary General Meeting in 2008.



21

The Annual Report 2006 : Corporate Governance

Overview of historical development in share capital is given below:

   Face value  Change in Share capital Number of Number of
   per share  share capital after change new shares shares after
 Dato Type of change (NOK)  (NOK) (NOK) issued change

Equal treatment of shareholders and transactions with 
close associates
Q-Free ASA has only one class of shares and there are no 
voting restrictions. The Board of Directors has no intention  
of putting forward any proposals to the General Meeting 
concerning voting restrictions.

An increase in the Company’s capital might be proposed if 
the Board of Directors decides that this would best take care 
of shareholders’ long-term interests. If possible, the Board of 
Directors will propose a share issue to existing shareholders 
in accordance with rights of pre-emption. The Board of 
Directors is authorised to increase the share capital of the 
Company by issuing new shares to key personnel (incentive 
program), and is authorised to waive shareholders’ rights of 
pre-emption, in favour of key personnel for this program.  
The introduction of an incentive program is considered to  
be in the best interest of the shareholders and is explained 
in the agenda for the General Meeting.

The Company’s policy on transactions with close associates 
is based on the requirement that any transactions must be 
at arms length and at market prices. Where it is possible,  

the Company has arranged for a valuation obtained from  
an independent third party. See note 4 for more information 
about transactions with close associates. 

Freely negotiable shares
Q-Free ASA has no form of restriction concerning freely 
negotiable shares. The Board of Directors has no intention 
of putting forward any proposals to the General Meeting 
concerning restrictions on freely negotiable shares

03-04-02 Status at IPO 0,05   2 279 163,40   45 583 268,00

05-02-04 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 4 833,35 2 283 996,75 96 667,00 45 679 935,00

10-03-04 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 2 500,00 2 286 496,75 50 000,00 45 729 935,00

20-04-04 Share issue 0,05 227 500,00 2 513 996,75 4 550 000,00 50 279 935,00

10-05-04 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 4 583,30 2 518 580,05 91 666,00 50 371 601,00

08-06-04 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 5 966,65 2 524 546,70 119 333,00 50 490 934,00

26-07-04 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 833,35 2 525 380,05 16 667,00 50 507 601,00

22-09-04 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 833,35 2 526 213,40 16 667,00 50 524 268,00

19-10-04 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 6 000,05 2 532 213,45 120 001,00 50 644 269,00

13-01-05 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 2 666,70 2 534 880,15 53 334,00 50 697 603,00

17-03-05 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 2 500,00 2 537 380,15 50 000,00 50 747 603,00

02-06-05 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 500,00 2 537 880,15 10 000,00 50 757 603,00

23-06-05 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 3 000,00 2 540 880,15 60 000,00 50 817 603,00

04-07-05 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 1 250,00 2 542 130,15 25 000,00 50 842 603,00

27-07-05 Exercise of options key personell 0,05 1 250,00 2 543 380,15 25 000,00 50 867 603,00

29-07-05 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 833,30 2 544 213,45 16 666,00 50 884 269,00

04-09-05 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 1 250,00 2 545 463,45 25 000,00 50 909 269,00

15-12-05 Share issue 0,40 17 818 244,15 20 363 707,60  50 909 269,00

15-12-05 Reduction of share capital (demerger Fara) 0,38 -1 018 185,38 19 345 522,22  50 909 269,00

30-03-06 Exercise of options key personell 0,38 3 800,00 19 349 322,22 10 000,00 50 919 269,00

02-05-06 Exercise of options key personell 0,38 258 780,00 19 608 102,22 681 000,00 51 600 269,00

11-05-06 Exercise of options key personell 0,38 195 953,46 19 804 055,68 515 667,00 52 115 936,00

12-05-06 Exercise of options key personell 0,38 60 166,54 19 864 222,22 158 333,00 52 274 269,00 
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Risk Management
Q-Free’s customers are public authorities, private companies 
operating under public licences and system integrators. The 
Company’s main risk factors are political risk, project risk 
and financial risk.

Q-Free has developed an effective Quality Assurance (QA) 
system and is certified in accordance with the NS-EN ISO-
9001 Quality System. The Company’s ISO 9001 Certificate 
covers all areas of the normal operations. Q-Free is also 
certified according to the ISO-14001/2004 standard, which 
means that the Company has set up systems for monitoring 
and improving its impact on the external environment.
The Company has established a financial risk management 
policy, based on experience, under which it always hedges 
at least 50 % of its expected foreign currency revenues.

The risk factors which Q-Free is subject to are closely 
monitored by the Company and especially by the  
QA manager, who reports directly to the CEO of the  
Q-Free Group. 

The Company’s Articles of Association can be found at  
the end of this chapter on Corporate Governance.

Financial reporting and Investor Relations
Q-Free wants to maintain an open dialogue with the capital 
market, and will arrange regular open presentations for 
investors, analysts and others. Regular information will be 
published through the Annual Report and the quarterly 
reports and presentations. The Company aims at publishing 
these reports within six weeks of the end of the relevant 
period, in at least three out of four financial quarters, 
although the Company slightly deviates from this ambition  
in 2007 (with only two out of four quarters planned reported 
within six weeks of the end of the relevant period). Q-Free 
distributes all information relevant to the share price to  
the Oslo Stock Exchange. Such information is distributed 
without delay and simultaneously to the capital market,  
the media and on the Company website.

The Company publishes all information concerning Annual 
General Meetings, publication of quarterly reports and 
presentations, other presentations and dividend payment 
dates on the Company website, as soon as they are 
decided.

It is a primary goal for the Company to maximise the 
shareholders’ values, in such a way that the return on 
investment measured as the dividend and rise in the share 
price, will be at least at the same level as alternative 

investments involving similar risk. Through the Annual 
Report and the quarterly reports and presentations, the 
Company will provide information on its major value drivers 
and risk factors. This will secure information for investors 
and make it possible to evaluate the Company’s risk and 
performance.

The CEO and CFO are responsible for the investor relations 
in the Company and communication with the capital market, 
if necessary together with the Chairman of the Board or 
appointed members of the Board. Communication with the 
capital market outside regular presentations is handled by 
the CEO and CFO. All information is communicated within 
the framework established by securities and accounting 
legislation and the rules and regulations of the stock 
exchange. 

All information about Q-Free ASA is available on the 
Company’s website: www.q-free.com 

Takeovers
The Company has no measures in place to defend itself 
against takeover bids, but the ownership structure makes it 
difficult to take over the Company without an agreement with 
major shareholders. Large institutional shareholders and 
private investors dominate the ownership structure, and the 
20 largest shareholders own about 61,11 % of the Company.

20 largest shareholders per 31 December 2006, see note 22 
in the annual report.

Auditor
The Company’s external auditor is appointed by the General 
Meeting and is responsible for the financial audit of the 
parent company and Group accounts. Independent external 
auditors have also been appointed for all subsidiaries of  
Q-Free ASA, including those outside Norway.

The external auditor for Q-Free ASA submits an engage-
ment letter to the Board each year. The engagement letter  
is a plan for the audit of the Company and other information 
to the Board about next year’s audit. The auditor attends at 
least one Board meeting every year to present and comment 
on its management letter and other reports related to the 
audit it has carried out. The reports contain identification  
of weaknesses and proposals for improvement.

Ernst & Young has been the external auditor for Q-Free ASA 
for the last five years and carries out no other assignments 
for the Company which could give rise to conflict of interest. 
The auditor attends the General Meeting and informs about 
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the auditor’s report and remuneration for the year. This 
year’s auditor’s report follows the notes in the annual report.

For more information about remuneration of the auditor  
see note 6 in the Annual Report. 

Articles of Association for Q-Free ASA
Paragraph 1. 
The Company’s name is Q-Free ASA. The Company shall 
be a public limited company.

Paragraph 2. 
The Company’s registered office is in Trondheim, Norway.

Paragraph 3. 
The Company’s object is to be engaged in research, 
development, production and sales and everything else  
in this connection.

Paragraph 4. 
The share capital of the Company is NOK 19,864,222.22, 
distributed between 52,274,269 stocks, each with a par 
value of NOK 0.38.

The Company’s shares shall be registered in Verdipapirsent-
ralen (The Norwegian Registry of Securities).

Paragraph 5. 
The Board of Directors shall have 3-8 members subject to 
the General Meeting’s decision.

The Board of Directors represents the Company, and has 
the right to sign the Company. In addition, the Chairman of 
the Board and one member of the Board jointly have the 
right to sign the Company.

The Board of Directors may grant powers of procuration.

Paragraph 6. 
An Ordinary General Meeting will be held prior June 30th.

The Ordinary General Meeting shall handle:

1. Pass resolution of result and balance.
2. Allocation of profit or covering of loss in accordance  
 with the stipulated balance and distribution of dividends.
3. Election of members to the Board of Directors.
4. Pass resolution of remuneration for the members of  
 the Board.
5. Elect members to the election committee.
6. Pass resolution of remuneration for the members of  
 the election committee.
7. Pass resolution of the auditor’s remuneration.
8. Other cases that the Board submits in their summon  
 or as a shareholder wishes to address when such is  
 submitted at the latest 3 weeks prior to the General  
 Meeting.
9. Other cases that according to Law falls within the  
 powers of the General Meeting.

Paragraph 7. 
The Company shall have an election committee. The 
election committee’s task is to submit nomination to the 
General Meeting for the election of shareholder-elected 
members to the Board, and to suggest remuneration  
to the Board.

The election committee consists of three members who shall 
be shareholders or representatives for the shareholders.  
The General Meeting elects the members. The election 
committee members are elected for two years at a time.  
The General Meeting can pass regulations governing the 
election committee.

Paragraph 8. 
Furthermore, the Company legislation at any given time 
shall be applicable.

Proposed amendment to the Articles of Association  
for Q-Free ASA
New Paragraph 3. 
The Company’s objective is to be engaged in research & 
development, production, operation and sales of information 
technology products and systems and anything that relates 
to this.
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We are taking measures to become a world class organization through proactive customer dialogue,  
well-planned product development, state of the art solutions and unrivalled implementation.  
Why settle for second best?

World class solutions

Time to live
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Q-Free is positioned as a 
leading supplier of Road User 
Charging solutions (RUC) in  
the markets in Europe, Asia  
and the Latin America. The 
Company’s position is based  
on a unique foundation of 
implemented projects following 
the world’s first RUC installation 
in Norway in 1988. Q-Free’s 
solutions include On-Board 
Units (OBUs) for vehicles, 
roadside equipment and 
systems for transaction man-
agement and related services. 
The Company has also played  
a major part in the design of  
the present DSRC standard.
(Dedicated Short Range 
Communication)

Market situation 

Main features
The market for RUC solutions is still at an early stage, and  
a double-digit annual percentage growth is expected in the 
years to come. This development is sparked by an increasing 
need for financing of road projects due to a growing number 
of cars and consequently higher traffic volumes. The growth 
is spreading from industrialised countries to the new, 
growing economies, such as the BRIC countries (Brazil, 
Russia, India, China) among others, hand in hand with 
improvements in standards of living. The transition from 
manual to electronic solutions is the result of a need to 
improve cost efficiency.

The past few years have also seen an increasing focus  
on the need to reduce traffic congestion and the negative 
impacts on the population and the environment. More and 
more large cities are now considering RUC solutions to 
overcome these issues.

The question of RUC solutions is usually determined by 
different public authorities, which means that realisation  
of the projects is subject to an element of political risk.  
A privatisation process is taking place in some mature 
markets, where the development and management of  
road constructions and corresponding collection of tolls  
is left to private companies. In the long term, this could 
contribute to reducing the political risk.

The prospects of rapid growth in the market for RUC 
solutions have resulted in a more intense competition. In 
relatively mature markets, price competition is increasing  
as several players are bidding for the same projects and 
delivery of OBUs. One effect of the competition is that it 
facilitates a continuous improvement of technological 
solutions on the market.

In the future, Q-Free will gradually position itself as the 
preferred supplier, irrespective of the client’s technological 
preferences. The system know-how that the Company has 
built up from years of international experience, including the 

The Company made an operating profit of NOK 29.4m (105.4 for 2005) for 2006, out of operating revenues of  
NOK 386.9m (509.2 for 2005). The management of Q-Free ASA has taken further action to strengthen the Company’s  
market position and expects a gradual rise in business volumes in 2007. There is an considerable market potential  
in the  Road User Charging (RUC) market. Based on this and on Q-Free’s current position and plans ahead,  
the Board feels optimistic about the future of the Company.

The Board of Directors report 2006 
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delivery of central systems, puts the Company in a favourable 
position for such a strategy. In connection with this, more 
efforts will be made to increase market activities world wide.

The number of new large-scale projects for Q-Free in 2006 
was relatively low. This is mainly due to a delayed decision-
making process, not loss of contracts. The Company reports 
five large contracts during the year; in Norway, France, 
Portugal, Turkey and Australia, countries in which RUC 
solutions are already common. Three of the contracts were 
for OBUs, while the contract in Norway also included a new 
central system for the Norwegian Public Roads Administra-
tion (NPRA). Q-Free also made a successful delivery in 
connection with the Winter Olympic Games in Turin, Italy, 
where smartcard OBUs were introduced for the first time.  
In addition, Q-Free was chosen to be the partner in pilot 
projects in China and the UK in connection with the planning 
of RUC installations in these countries. The deliveries for the 
congestion charging project in Stockholm were completed. 
Both the technical solutions supplied and the results of the 
project have been successful. 

Market prospects in the individual regions
In 2006, Europe represented 78 percent of Q-Free’s revenues, 
making it the Company’s largest market. Norway, Portugal 
and France are all countries with established RUC systems 
and where Q-Free makes regular deliveries. These will continue 
to be important markets for Q-Free in the years to come.

Potential new markets for RUC solutions include the UK, 
Sweden, Belgium, the Netherlands, Italy and Spain as well 
as Eastern European countries. The pilot projects in London 
and Stockholm have generated a lot of attention. A perma-
nent DSRC solution in Sweden requires changes in the 
legislation, which means that the project based on OBUs  
as the primary unit will have to be postponed until the laws 
have been changed. As for the pilot project in London, 
decisions are expected to be made in the course of 
2007/2008.

In Eastern Europe the focus is on truck tolling, and a 
decision regarding the project in Hungary is expected to  
be announced during 2007. It should also be noted that 
activities in countries in the Middle East are increasing 
where RUC solutions are concerned.
 
Countries in Asia/Australia constituted 17 percent of  
Q-Free’s revenues in 2006. Australia is the mature market  
in this region, and in 2006 Q-Free reported a large order.  

Q-Free expects a continued growth in the market for RUC 
solutions in Australia.

Q-Free is preparing new projects in China, Thailand, India, 
Indonesia and the Philippines. It is difficult to estimate how 
these projects will progress, but decisions in several of these 
markets are likely to be made sometimes during 2007/2008.

Projects in other countries in the region are developing more 
slowly. Japan is a big market that is currently not accessible 
to Q-Free.

Deliveries in Latin America represented 5 percent of  
Q-Free’s revenues in 2006. Chile and Brazil are the largest 
markets for the Company on this continent. Considerable 
opportunities are expected in Brazil, both in terms of further 
development of RUC applications and also where the 
introduction of electronic number plates is concerned.  
RUC solutions are also under consideration in several  
other countries in the region. 

Q-Free currently does not offer solutions in North America, 
which is the world’s largest RUC market, but is keeping tabs 
on market trends and the status of the various market 
players. 

The standard of technology in North America and Japan 
differs from the rest of the world, and the markets are mainly 
governed by domestic companies. Entering these markets 
requires considerable strategic investments on the part of  
Q-Free. 

Orders received and order backlog

At year-end 2006, Q-Free had an order backlog of NOK 
294m, which is NOK 70m more than at year-end 2005.  
The order backlog is distributed as follows: Europe  
83 percent, Asia/Australia 9 percent and Latin-America  
8 percent. Orders received in 2006 amounted to NOK 
456,5m, of which 82 percent came from Europe, 13 percent 
from Asia/Australia and 5 percent from Latin America.

Report on the financial statements for 2006

In the report on the financial statements, all commentary 
refers to the Q-Free group of companies, not the parent 
company Q-Free ASA. 

In 2006, Q-Free had operating revenues amounting to  
NOK 386.9m, compared with NOK 509.2m in 2005. The 
reason for this drop is a lack of new large-scale projects  
in 2005 and the first half of 2006. 

The operating profit (EBIT) for 2006 totalled NOK 29.4m, 
compared with NOK 105.4m in 2005. This reduction partly 
reflects a drop in business volumes and partly the provisions 
of NOK 30m in the fourth quarter 2006 made by the 
Company. Gross margin for the year was 60.2 percent, 
which is a slight improvement from the year before when  
the gross margin was 54.2 percent.

Net financial items amounted to NOK 15.7m, compared with 
NOK 13.3m in 2005. 
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The Company’s profit before tax was NOK 45.0m, compared 
with NOK 118.7m the year before. Tax expensed amounted 
to NOK 11.2m, compared with NOK 6.4m in 2005.

The annual results for the Company after minority interests 
amounted to NOK 32.2m, compared with NOK 93.9m in 
2005. Profit per share amounted to NOK 0.62, compared 
with NOK 1.84 in 2005.

The Board of directors does not recommend any dividends 
to be paid out for the accounting year 2006.

The Q-Free Group had total assets of NOK 426.4m at year-
end 2006, compared with NOK 429.6m the year before.  
In terms of assets, accounts receivables have dropped as  
a result of lower business volumes, while fixed assets have 
increased as a result of R&D activities and an increase in 
deferred tax assets. The Company’s equity has increased  
by NOK 54.5m and as at 31 December 2006 it totalled 69.3 
percent. Compared with the year before, accounts payables 
and advance payments from customers have been reduced. 

At year-end 2006, the parent company had NOK 41.8m  
in distributable reserves.

The group capitalises costs regarding development activi-
ties. Capitalised costs for 2006 consist of development of  
a new generation of OBU’s and road side units that are a 
part of the company’s toll road systems. Furthermore the 
company has capitalised cost that prepares the company’s 
products for future wireless communication solutions that 
enables continuous communication between vehicles and 
the roadside infrastructure. Such cooperative vehicle-
infrastructure systems will allow new traffic information-
sharing services for greater safety, efficiency and a better 
environment.

Cash flow and working capital
Cash reserves at the end of 2006 amounted to NOK 162.2m, 
compared with cash and cash equivalents of NOK 166.5m 
the year before. 

The discrepancy between operating profit and cash flow 
from operations is partly due to advance payments on some 
of the Company’s projects from 2005, as well as cash flow 
effect of provisions.

The Company has satisfactory financial means to initiate 
own investments in technology and projects. During 2006, 
the Company has invested a total of NOK 16.7 million in 
new technology to improve future profitability.

The Group’s short term receivables are NOK 92.5 million 
and short-term debt amount to NOK 97.5 million when 
accruals of NOK 30 million are included. The Group has 
cash and liquid assets of NOK 162 million, which makes the 
working capital situation satisfactory at balance sheet date.

Going concern
The Board confirms that the financial statements are prepared 
on the principle of going concern. It is the Board’s opinion that 
the Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet with notes 
provide adequate information about operations and the state 
of the Company at year-end. The Board emphasises that 
there is normally considerable uncertainty connected with 
future prognoses. Nothing of significance has happened  
since the turn of the year, other than described here. 

Organisation, working conditions and  
external environment

Organisation
Q-Free is headquartered in the city of Trondheim, Norway 
and is present in 13 countries in four continents. The 
Company is represented directly in Australia, Brazil, 
Malaysia, Portugal, China and France (as of January 2007). 
The Company is also represented in Chile, Greece, Spain, 
Singapore, the UK and Italy. In addition to its core business 
interests, Q-Free owns 53.5 % of Noca AS, a contractual 
electronics manufacturer.

At year-end 2006, the Group had 195 employees, whereof 
89 are employed in Trondheim and in Oslo, 55 in Noca AS 
and 51 in companies outside Norway. A total of 83 percent  
of the employees are highly qualified engineers. 

Working environment and personnel
The Board considers the working environment in the 
Company to be good, and would like to take this opportunity 
to thank the employees for their contributions in this respect. 
Sick leave in 2006 amounted to 380 days, ie. 1.8 %. No 
serious occupational incidents or injuries were reported 
during the year.

The Group operates a policy of complete equality between 
male and female workers. The Company endeavours to 
avoid differential treatment based on gender. By tradition, 
Company recruitment is from a variety of engineering 
environments, and currently the Group has 34 female and 
161 male employees. The Company fulfils the Norwegian 
legal requirement of a minimum of 40 percent female Board 
members. 

External environment
Q-Frees products and services contribute to reduced traffic 
congestion and consequently less pollution. The Company’s 
activities have no negative impact on the external environ-
ment. The Company’s environmental programme, which is 
certified in accordance with NS-EN ISO 14001:2004, has 
shown positive results. All products introduced after 2005 
are produced without the use of lead and other hazardous 
environmental substances, as defined in the EU’s RoHS and 
WEEE directives. Q-Free has formulated an environmental 
policy which is published on the Company web sites. 
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Furthermore, the Company is working actively to influence 
subcontractors to choose the most environmentally friendly 
alternatives whenever possible. The Company thus fulfils all 
the environmental requirements imposed by the Norwegian 
authorities and the EU. The Company also offers to adminis-
trate the return of OBUs for environmental safe deposit.

Risk situation

An international technology company such as Q-Free is 
destined to be exposed to a number of different risks. 
Political risk related to contract signing and implementation 
of projects is particularly significant to Q-Free’s operations. 
The processes leading up to project deliveries are often  
long and unpredictable.

Other risks:

Exchange rate/interest risks:
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates, 
particularly with the euro and US dollars, as a considerable 
portion of the Company’s revenues is in non-Norwegian 
currencies. The Company uses futures contracts and other 
hedging instruments to reduce its currency risk and thereby 
reduce the market risk. 

Credit risk:
The Company is exposed to risk of customers not having 
the abilities to fulfil their financial obligations. However, this 
risk is considered to be low as most of Q-Free’s customers 
are major IT companies, public authorities and key road con-
cessionaires in Norway and abroad. This is supported by an 
historical low loss ratio on receivables. When the Company 
enters a new market, the credit risk will be assessed for 
each case and hedging measures such as payment 
guarantees will be implemented as required. 

Liquidity risk:
The liquidity situation is good, and thus no special measures 
have been implemented to alter the liquidity risk. Due dates 
for payments by customers are tracked, and the Company  
is always up to date with current liabilities.

Technology risk:
The Company will be exposed to quality problems both due 
to quality of own work and quality of deliveries from sub 
suppliers. Furthermore, continuous technology advances 
can affect the competitive situation of Q-Free. Q-Free 
mitigates this risk by systematic quality control of sub 
suppliers, own technology and product development, by 
consciously seeking competence needed to integrate 
various technologies into our solutions, and by continuously 
making provisions for possible faulty deliveries.  

Project risk:
Q-Free’s revenues normally include a substantial element  
of large-scale projects that place significant demands on 

implementation know-how. Q-Free is in possession of a 
unique competence in this field, and constantly endeavours 
to be prepared for different development scenarios.

Corporate Governance 

Stock exchange regulations require that listed companies 
listed must publish a report on their principles for Corporate 
Governance once a year, in accordance with in Section 1 of 
the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, 
cf. the most recent edition dated 28 November 2006. Q-Free 
endeavours to comply with these recommendations. Where 
the Company’s departs from the Code of Practice, an 
explanation or comment will be given.

The Board of Q-Free agreed the Group’s principles for corporate 
governance in 2007. Further details are provided on page 15  
in the printed version of the Company’s Annual Report. 

Shareholder situation

Share development
The price for Q-Free shares went from NOK 16.40 (March) 
to NOK 26.00 (June) in 2006. At year-end, the price was 
NOK 18.80. With a total number of 52,274,269 shares, this 
yielded a market value of approximately NOK 983m. Further 
details about share price development are provided on page 
21 in the Annual Report.

Shareholder situation
At year-end 2006, Q-Free ASA had 1,202 shareholders, 
compared with 1,626 in 2005. The ownership structure 
consists of investment companies and institutional  
shareholders in Norway and abroad.

The 20 largest shareholders in Q-Free ASA as at March 28 
2007 are: 

Share % Name  

8,80 VERDIPAPIRFOND ODIN 
6,77 TROJAN AS DATUM AS
6,51 VERDIPAPIRFONDET NOR V/NORDEA FONDENE AS
4,70 MONS HOLDING AS 
4,03 OPTOPIA AS 
3,25 SKAGEN VEKST 
3,25 HANDELSBANKEN MARKET MARKET-MAKING DERIVA 
3,13 ANDRESEN LARS ODDGEIR 
3,12 JPMBLSA NORDEA LUX LENDING A
2,73 REDBACK AS 
2,33 SAGA EQUITY FUND C/O SAGA ASSET MANAG
2,00 WEGA AS 
1,89 VERDIPAPIRFONDET NOR V/NORDEA FONDENE AS
1,63 KIKUT AS 
1,35 BANK OF NEW YORK, BR S/A EQUITY TRI-PARTY
1,24 MATHIAS HOLDING A/S 
1,18 VERDIPAPIRFONDET DAN DANSKE FUND NORGE
1,15 RBC TRUST COMPANY (J 
1,03 VERDIPAPIRFONDET NOR V/NORDEA FONDENE AS
0,96 BAYDREAM ENTERPRISES 
61,05  
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The Company has one share class and the nominal value 
per share is NOK 0.38.

In 2006, the General Meeting authorised the Board to 
increase the share capital by NOK 1,934,932.26 by issuing 
a maximum of 5,091,927 new shares, corresponding to 
approximately 10 percent of the share capital. This authori-
zation is valid until 30 June 2007 and may be employed 
through acquisitions or mergers. At present, NOK 514 900  
of this authorization has been employed related to the 
exercise of stock options.

The same General Meeting also granted the Board of 
Directors the authority to issue a maximum of 2,550,000 
new shares to key personnel in the Company. This authori-
zation shall be valid until 10 May 2008. As at 31 December, 
a total of 1,800,000 share options have been issued under 
this authorization.

Further details regarding the share option programme are 
provided in note 6 of the financial statement in the Annual 
Report page 46. 

Allocation of profits

The Board proposes that the profit for the year in the parent 
company of NOK 22,032,815 is allocated as follows: 
Distributed to other equity.

Outlook 

As a matter of form the Company will emphasize  that there 
will always be uncertainty related to forward looking staments. 

Q-Free expects market growth of approximately 20 percent 
in 2007, cf. report on market developments above. The 
Company will position itself aggressively to win new strategic 
markets. A gradual increase in business volumes is expected 
throughout 2007. 

During 2007, the Company will carry out a number of 
actions to improve its competitive position;

• Recruit a stronger management with international  
 experience. 
• Establish local sales offices in key markets such as  
 England, France and Spain, as well as increase the  
 market activities in Asia and Latin America. An office  
 in Paris, France, opened in January 2007.
• Strengthen the international sales competence through  
 several efforts to professionalize the sales force.
• Measures have also been taken to improve the  
 competitiveness of the existing product portfolio  
 through a new sourcing strategy. 
• The work to develop a new DSRC product family  
 will be stepped up. 

The Group management is expecting the joint effects of  
the implemented actions to enable Q-Free to compete  
for a continued leading position in the RUC market in  
the years to come. 

  Trondheim, 31. December 2006 / 28 .March 2007 

 Ole Jørgen Fredriksen Christian Albech Harald Arnet
 Chairman of the Board

 Kristin Braa Pål Rune Johansen Anders Hagen
  Employee representative Employee representative

 Torild Skogsholm Øyvind Isaksen
  CEO
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Congestion charging – the use of tolls to regulate traffic density – is rapidly catching on. 
London and Stockholm took the lead, now other cities are following suite. This offers great 
possibilities to Q-Free – and genuine hope for less congestion and pollution across the world.

Taking the lead

Time to live
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 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 IFRS IFRS IFRS   IFRS IFRS IFRS
 2004 2005 2006  Note 2006 2005 2004

    Operating revenue

 183 807 159 416 696 898 283 134 773 Revenue 2, 3 381 259 713 508 853 870 291 308 421

 494 283 306 375 5 681 981 Other operating income 4 5 681 981 306 375 494 283

 184 301 442 417 003 273 288 816 754 Total operating revenue  386 941 694 509 160 245 291 802 704

        

    Operating expenses    

 82 100 151 212 325 945 125 760 311 Cost of goods sold 8 154 104 326 233 299 702 137 615 410

 6 778 562 45 139 577 41 485 779 Payroll expenses 6, 7 78 724 468 74 858 584 30 284 207

 14 912 852 13 160 523 13 389 410 Depreciation 9 17 014 633 16 314 061 16 786 580

 1 762 269 0 0 Write-down of fixed assets 9 0 0 1 762 269

 104 667 376 66 690 587 92 891 584 Other operating expenses 11, 10 107 725 651 79 316 604 124 255 682

 210 221 210 337 316 632 273 527 084 Total operating expenses  357 569 078 403 788 951 310 704 148

        

 -25 919 768 79 686 641 15 289 670 Operating profit  29 372 616 105 371 294 -18 901 444

        

    Financial items    

 4 581 107 1 746 430 0 Financial income from group companies  0 0 0

 1 238 840 2 258 460 4 273 494 Other interest received  7 514 009 4 896 129 1 706 887

 3 616 447 16 875 572 13 969 964 Other financial income 13, 19 17 355 607 18 900 263 6 111 085

    Changes in market value  
 0 0 6 949 418 of financial current assets 20 6 949 418 0 0

 -26 270 128 -1 154 888 0 Write-down on financial current assets 0 0 0 0

 -2 656 842 -438 981 -166 019 Write-down on financial fixed assets 19 -166 019 -438 981 -2 656 842

 -5 669 121 -171 531 -9 952 473 Other interest expenses  -11 506 089 -1 363 015 -6 595 426

 -2 921 191 -7 698 680 -2 995 123 Other financial expenses 13 -4 495 123 -8 691 680 -5 538 833

 -28 080 888 11 416 382 12 079 261 Total financial items  15 651 803 13 302 716 -6 973 129

 -54 000 656 91 103 023 27 368 931 Profit before tax  45 024 419 118 674 010 -25 874 573

 19 429 -538 599 -5 336 116 Tax on ordinary result 16 -11 156 519 -6 358 498 -936 485

    Result after tax, but before loss
 -53 981 227 90 564 424 22 032 815 in discontinued operations  33 867 900 112 315 512 -26 811 058

 -60 389 351 -17 801 552 0 Loss in discontinued operations 2 , 3 0 -17 801 552 -60 389 351

        

 -114 370 578 72 762 872 22 032 815 Profit / (-) loss for the year  33 867 900 94 513 960 -87 200 409

    Equity holders of parent  32 181 029 93 939 973 -88 483 384

    Minority share  1 686 871 573 987 1 282 975

    Distribution of profit / (-) loss for the year:

 -67 264 931 0 0 Share premium reserve

 -47 105 647 72 762 872 22 032 815 Other equity

 -114 370 578 72 762 872 22 032 815 Total distributed

    Earnings per share 17 0,62 1,84 -1,90

    Diluted earnings per share 17 0,62 1,83 -1,89

Profit and loss statement



32

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 IFRS IFRS     IFRS IFRS
 2005 2006  ASSETS Note  2006 2005

    Fixed assets

    Intangible fixed assets

 0 9 529 057  Deferred tax assets 16  11 832 151 0

 10 967 206 22 720 168  Development 9  23 288 432 11 779 850

 10 967 206 32 249 225  Total intangible fixed assets   35 120 583 11 779 850

    Tangible fixed assets

 25 102 282 30 248 455  Machinery, fixtures and fittings, etc. 9  45 273 886 42 083 561

 25 102 282 30 248 455  Total tangible fixed assets   45 273 886 42 083 561

    Financial fixed assets

 8 160 376 7 638 742  Investments in subsidiaries 18  0 0

 17 424 251 9 464 746  Loan to group companies   0 0

 166 019 0  Investments in associated companies   0 166 019

 27 187 142 36 845 058  Investments in other companies 19  36 935 703 27 277 787

 0 37 207  Pension funds 7  413 697 1 299 891

 0 0  Other receivables   1 674 058 1 943 105

 52 937 788 53 985 753  Total financial fixed assets   39 023 458 30 686 802

        

 89 007 276 116 483 433  TOTAL FIXED ASSETS   119 417 927 84 550 213

    Current assets

        

 35 279 374 31 496 037  Inventories 8  52 047 188 47 372 944

        

    Debtors

 100 624 840 61 725 596  Accounts receivables 14  88 687 239 125 334 665

 0 617 204  Recognised, not invoiced revenue   617 204 0

 15 757 403 11 130 114  Accounts receivables on group companies 14  0 0

 9 925 590 1 402 709  Other debtors   3 191 744 5 781 603

 126 307 833 74 875 623  Total debtors   92 496 187 131 116 268

 0 260 200  Financial derivates 13  260 200 0

 126 983 544 127 537 439  Cash and cash equivalents 20  162 173 962 166 518 206

        

 288 570 751 234 169 299  TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   306 717 337 345 007 418

 377 578 027 350 652 732  TOTAL ASSETS   426 135 264 429 557 631

Balance sheet of 31.12.
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 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 IFRS IFRS     IFRS IFRS
 2005 2006  EQUITy AND LIABILITIES Note  2006 2005

    Equity

    Paid-in capital

 19 345 522 19 864 222  Subscribed share capital 21  19 864 222 19 345 522

 135 919 707 155 231 386  Share premium reserve   155 231 386 135 919 707

 2 370 308 3 849 448  Other paid-in capital   3 849 448 2 370 308

 157 635 537 178 945 056  Total paid-in capital   178 945 056 157 635 537

 52 007 090 74 039 904  Other equity   103 885 660 72 376 525

 52 007 090 74 039 904  Total retained earnings   103 885 660 72 376 525

 0 0  Minority interests   12 674 340 10 987 469

 209 642 627 252 984 960  TOTAL EQUITy   295 505 056 240 999 531

    Liabilities

    Provisions    

 178 892 0  Pension liabilities 7  0 178 892

 356 327 0  Deferred taxes 16  0 0

 535 219 0  Total provisions   0 178 892

    Other long-term liabilities

 0 0  Liabilities to financial institutions 22  3 392 106 4 021 968

 752 403 0  Other long-term liabilities 10  0 0

 752 403 0  Total long-term liabilities   3 392 106 4 021 968

    Current liabilities

 62 074 825 41 417 807  Accounts payable   57 146 276 79 622 191

 48 077 065 0  Advance payments from customers 15  1 853 942 54 403 020

 17 115 603 3 594 391  Debt to group companies   0 0

 0 13 621 500  Tax payable 16  17 102 864 3 840 014

 5 627 529 0  Public duties payable   1 846 132 1 432 180

 33 752 756 39 034 074  Other short-term liabilities 12  49 288 888 45 059 835

 166 647 778 97 667 772  Total current liabilities   127 238 102 184 357 240

 167 935 400 97 667 772  TOTAL LIABILITIES   130 630 208 188 558 100

 377 578 027 350 652 732  TOTAL EQUITy AND LIABILITIES   426 135 264 429 557 631

Balance sheet of 31.12.

  Trondheim, 31. December 2006 / 28. March 2007 

 Ole Jørgen Fredriksen Christian Albech Harald Arnet
 Chairman of the Board

 Kristin Braa Pål Rune Johansen Anders Hagen
  Employee representative Employee representative

 Torild Skogsholm Øyvind Isaksen
  CEO
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PARENT COMPANy      
Changes in equity 
 Share  Share  Other paid-in  Other  Total  
Note capital premium reserve capital equity equity

Equity per 01.01.2006 19 345 522 135 919 707 2 370 308 52 007 090 209 642 627 

Net gains and losses not recognised  
in the Profit and Loss Statement 0 0 0 0 0

Profit (loss) for the period 0 0 0 22 032 814 22 032 814

Total 0 0 0 22 032 814 22 032 814

Excercise of share options 518 700 19 311 679 0 0 19 830 379

Cost of share-based payment 0 0 1 479 140 0 1 479 140

Equity per 31.12.2006 19 864 222 155 231 386 3 849 448 74 039 904 252 984 960

Statement of changes in Equity

GROUP      
Changes in equity 
    Majority interests
 Share  Share Premium Other paid-in  Other   Minority  Total
Note capital reserve capital equity Total interests equity

Equity per. 01.01.2005: 2 532 213 214 664 334 0 -29 793 422 187 403 125 10 520 478 197 923 603

Currency and calculation differences 0 0 0 -1 201 639 -1 201 639 0 -1 201 639

        

Net gains and losses not recognised  
in the Profit and Loss Statement 0 0 0 -1 201 639 -1 201 639 0 -1 201 639

Profit (loss) for the period 0 0 0 93 939 973 93 939 973 573 987 94 513 960

Total 0 0 0 92 738 334 92 738 334 573 987 93 312 321

Reclassification of share  
premium reserve 0 -57 181 756 0 57 181 756 0 0 0

Share issue 17 818 244 -17 818 244 0 0 0 0 0

Excercise of share options 13 250 3 409 041 0 0 3 422 291 0 3 422 291

Demerger effect -1 018 185 -7 153 668 0 -47 643 147 -55 815 000 0 -55 815 000

Cost of share-based payment 0 0 2 370 308 0 2 370 308 0 2 370 308

Dividends 0 0 0 -106 996 -106 996 -106 996 -213 992

Equity per 31.12.2005 19 345 522 135 919 707 2 370 308 72 376 525 230 012 062 10 987 46 240 999 531

Currency and calculation differences 0 0 0 -671 894 -671 894 0 -671 894

Net gains and losses not recognised  
in the Profit and Loss Statement 0 0 0 -671 894 -671 894 0 -671 894

Profit (loss) for the period 0 0 0 32 181 029 32 181 029 1 686 871 33 867 900

Total 0 0 0 31 509 135 31 509 135 1 686 87 33 196 006

Excercise of share options 518 700 19 311 679 0 0 19 830 379 0 19 830 379

Cost of share-based payment 0 0 1 479 140 0 1 479 140 0 1 479 140

Dividends

Equity 31.12.2006 19 864 222 155 231 386 3 849 448 103 885 660 282 830 716 12 674 340 295 505 056



35

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006     2006 2005

    Cash flows from operations

 91 103 023 27 368 931  Result before tax continued operations   45 024 419 118 674 010

 -17 801 552 0  Result before tax discontinued operations   0 -17 801 552

 73 301 471 27 368 931  Total result before tax   45 024 419 100 872 458

 0 -13 621 500  Taxes paid   -17 102 864 -2 652 992

 13 160 523 13 389 410  Depreciation   17 014 633 16 314 061

 617 580 0  Depreciation discontinued operations   0 617 580

 1 154 887 166 019  Write-down on fixed assets   166 019 0

 0 1 200 000  Income from subsidiaries   0 0

 438 981 0  Result associated companies   0 438 981

 -9 863 776 -6 949 418  Shares valued at fair value   -6 949 418 -9 863 776

 2 370 308 1 479 140  Cost of share-based payment   1 479 140 2 370 308

 81 179 974 23 032 582  Cash flow from operations   39 631 929 108 096 620

        

 87 880 274 -35 562 627  Changes in inventory, customers, suppliers   -43 669 017 77 342 712

 14 742 032 25 637 303  Changes in other balance sheet items   22 390 616 18 642 424

 183 802 280 13 107 258  Net cash flow from operations   18 353 528 204 081 756

    Cash flow from investments

 -13 827 979 -30 288 544  Investments in tangible fixed assets   -31 713 540 -21 738 316

 -16 605 000 0  Investments in shares and ownership interests   0 -16 605 000

 -292 619 -1 342 796  Other investments   -10 184 750 -475 051

 -30 725 598 -31 631 340  Net cash flow from investments   -41 898 290 -38 818 367

    Cash flow from financing

 -1 476 666 -752 403  Repayment of loans   -629 862 -447 032

 3 422 291 19 830 380  Payment of share capital   19 830 380 3 422 291

 1 945 625 19 077 977  Net cash flow from financing   19 200 518 2 975 259

 155 022 307 553 895   Net change in cash and cash equivalents for the year  -4 344 244 168 238 648

 -60 301 000 0  Net cashflow from discontinued operations   0 -60 301 000

 32 262 237 126 983 544  Cash and cash equivalents per 01.01.   166 518 206 58 580 558

 126 983 544 127 537 439  Cash and cash equivalents per 31.12.   162 173 962 166 518 206

Cash flow statement 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2006

Note 1 Corporate information

Q-Free’s consolidated accounts for the year ended at 31 December 2006 were approved by the board at its meeting on  
28 march 2007. Q-Free ASA is a limited liability company headquartered in Thonning Owesens gate 35c, Trondheim Norway. 
The company’s shares are traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange.

The business activity is described in detail in note 3.

Note 2 Significant accounting policies

2.1 General principles
”The consolidated financial statements are presented using the historical cost principle, with the exception of derivative 
financial instruments and investments available for sale, which are measured at fair value. The consolidated financial 
statements of Q-Free ASA (the ””Parent Company””) and all its subsidiaries (The ””Group””), have been prepared in accord-
ance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by EU. 

Changes in Accounting Policies
Up until 31 December 2004, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting 
Act of 1998 and generally accepted accounting principles of Norway (NGAAP).  NGAAP differs in certain respects from 
IFRS. When preparing the Group’s 2005 consolidated financial statements, management changed certain accounting, 
valuation, and consolidation methods applied in the NGAAP financial statements to comply with IFRS. Comparative figures 
for 2004 were restated to reflect these adjustments. Refer to our 2005 Annual Report for details.

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year. Adoption of these 
revised standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial statements of the Group. They did however 
give rise to additional disclosures.

IAS 19 Amendment – Employee Benefits
IAS 21 Amendment – The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
IAS 39 Amendments—Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

The principal effects of these changes are as follows:

IAS 19 Amendment—Employee Benefits:
As of 1 January 2006, the Group adopted the amendments to IAS 19. As a result, additional disclosures are made providing 
information about trends in the assets and liabilities in the defined benefit plans and the assumptions underlying the 
components of the defined benefit cost. This change has resulted in additional disclosures being included for the years 
ending 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005 but has not had a recognition or measurement impact, as the Group 
chose not to apply the new option offered to recognise actuarial gains and losses outside of the income statement.

IAS 21 Amendment – The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
As of 1 January 2006, the Group adopted the amendments to IAS 21. As a result, all exchange differences arising from a 
monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation are recognised in a separate component 
of equity in the consolidated financial statements regardless of the currency in which the monetary item is denominated.  
This change has had no significant impact as at 31 December 2006 or 31 December 2005.

IAS 39 Amendments – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Amendment for financial guarantee contracts (issued August 2005) – amended the scope of IAS 39 to require financial 
guarantee contracts that are not considered to be insurance contracts to be recognised initially at fair value and to be 
remeasured at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in 
accordance with IAS 18 Revenue. This amendment did not have an effect on the profit and loss statements.
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Amendment for hedges of forecast intragroup transactions (issued April 2005) - amended IAS 39 to permit the foreign 
currency risk of a highly probable intragroup forecast transaction to qualify as the hedged item in a cash flow hedge, 
provided that the transaction is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity entering into that 
transaction and that the foreign currency risk will affect the consolidated income statement. As the Group currently has no 
such transactions, the amendment did not have an effect on the financial statements.

Amendment for the fair value option (issued June 2005) - amended IAS 39 to restrict the use of the option to designate any 
financial asset or any financial liability to be measured at fair value through the income statement. The Group had not 
previously used this option, hence the amendment did not have an effect on the financial statements.

IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
The Group adopted IFRIC Interpretation 4 as of 1 January 2006, which provides guidance in determining whether arrange-
ments contain a lease to which lease accounting must be applied. This change in accounting policy has not had a significant 
impact on the Group as at 31 December 2006 or 31 December 2005.

2.2 Consolidation principles
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Q-Free ASA and entities controlled by Q-Free 
ASA (subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of 
an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Control normally exists when Q-Free ASA has more than 50% voting 
power through ownership or agreements. Reference is made to note 18 for a list of subsidiaries consolidated into the group. 
All intercompany transactions and intercompany accounts that are included in the consolidated accounts have been 
eliminated. Gains from transactions between companies in the group have also been eliminated.

Q-Free ASA Group has a controlling interest in all subsidiaries in the group. The shares in the subsidiaries are eliminated 
according to the purchase method of accounting. This means that the original cost of the shares is attributed to the subsidi-
aries’ assets and liabilities that are included in the consolidated accounts at the actual value at the time of purchase.  
Original costs exceeding what can be attributed to identifiable assets and liabilities is presented as goodwill.

All foreign subsidiaries are independent companies. The balance sheet is converted to the exchange rate as of the balance 
sheet date. Profit and loss items are converted to the average exchange rate for the year. The conversion difference is 
posted directly against the group’s equity.

In the consolidated accounts, the company accounts are settled according to consistent accounting and valuation principles, 
and presentation of items in the profit and loss account and on the balance sheet are carried out according to uniform definitions.

Minoriy interests are included in the Group’s total equity. 

2.3 Use of estimates when preparing the annual financial statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS (International Reporting Financial Stand-
ards). This means that the management has used estimates and assumptions that have affected assets, liabilities, rev-
enues, expenses and information on potential liabilities. This particularly applies to the recognition as revenue of long-term 
delivery contracts, pension liabilities(funds) and share option program for employees. Future events may lead to these 
estimates being changed. Such changes will be recognised when new estimates can be determined with certainty. Changes 
in accounting estimates are accounted for in the period in which the changes occur. If the changes also apply to future 
periods, the effect is distributed between the current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,  
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, are discussed below.

Pension funds / liabilities:
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post employment medical benefits are determined using actuarial 
valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, 
future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long term nature of these plans, such 



38

estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The net employee funds at 31 December 2006 is NOK 413.679,-.  
Corresponding figures for 2005 was net funds 1.299.891,-. Further details are given in Note 7.

Warranty accruals:
The Group is estimating the probable precentage of warranty cost in tag production based on similar cost previous years 
and an evaluation of installed base at any time. Total accruals per 31 December 2006 is NOK 27.600.000,-. Corresponding 
figures for 2005 was NOK 15.404.420,-. Further details are given i Note 12.

On going projects:
Revenue recognition in on-going projects are measured as a percentage calculated as accrued production costs as a 
percentage of total anticipated production costs. Total anticipated production costs are estimated on the basis of a combina-
tion of historical figures, the follow up of efficiency targets and best estimates. Accrued revenue per 31 December 2006 is 
NOK 617.204,-. Corresponding figures for 2005 was NOK 0,-. Further details are given i Note 15.

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount  
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with 
future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of recognised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2006 was NOK 
11.832.151 for Group and NOK 9.529.057 for parent  (2005: NOK 0 for both Group and parent) and the unrecognised 
deferred tax assets at 31 December 2006 was NOK 0 (2005: NOK 942.698 for Group and NOK 0 for parent).

Development:
Estimates of future revenue for  new products- and tecnology are used to meet the criteria for capitalisation according to 
IFRS. Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires management to make assumptions regarding the expected future 
cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. At 31 December 2006, the 
best estimate of the carrying amount of capitalised development costs was NOK 23.288.432,-(2005 : NOK 11.779.850,-). 
Further details are given in Note 9.

2.4 Recognition of revenue
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that transactions will generate future economic benefits that will accrue to the 
company and the size of the amount can be reliably estimated. Sales revenue are presented net of value added tax and 
discounts.

Revenue from the sale of goods are recognised in the income statement once delivery has taken place, the risk has been 
transferred and the company has established a receivable due by customer.

Q-Free business acitivites’ are system deliveries within the tolling business with a length in time from a couple of months  
up till two to three years. Revenue relating to projects are recognised in the income statement according to the stage of 
completion. Stage of completion is calculated as accrued production costs as a percentage of total anticipated production 
costs. Total anticipated production costs are estimated on the basis of a combination of historical figures, the follow up of 
efficiency targets and best estimates. If the project’s results cannot be reliably estimated, only revenue equal to the accrued 
project costs will be recognised as revenue. Any estimated loss on a contract will be recognised in the income statement for 
the period when it is identified that the project will lead to a loss.

Invoicing normally takes place when contractually agreed milestones are reached. Differences between invoicing dates and 
revenue recognition are shown as ”revenue recognised, not invoiced” in the balance sheet. Advance payments from the 
customers is presented under current liablities.

2.5 Governmental grants
Subsidies from the authorities are not recognised until it is reasonably certain that the company will meet the conditions 
stipulated in connection with the receipt of the subsidies and that the subsidies will be granted. The recognition of subsidies 
is postponed and amortised over the period that the costs relating to that which the subsidies are intended for are incurred. 
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Subsidies are recognised as deductions from the cost that the subsidy is meant to cover. Subsidies received to buy non-
current assets are capitalised. Government grants are accounted as other operating income when the cost are incurred.

2.6 Accruals
Accruals are recognised when the company has a valid liability (legal or constructed) as a result of events that have taken 
place and it can be proven probable (more probable than not) that a financial settlement will take place as a result of this 
liability, and that the size of the amount can be measured reliably. Accruals are reviewed on each balance sheet date and 
reflects the best estimate of the liability.  When the effect of time is insignificant, the accruals will be equal to the size of the 
expense necessary to be free of the liability. When the effect of time is significant, the accruals will be the present value of 
future payments to cover the liability. 

2.7 Translation – foreign subsidiaries
The accounts of the foreign subsidiaries are included in the income statement at average exchange rates for the year. 
Balance sheet items, including goodwill related to foreign subsidiaries, are translated at the rates that applied on 31 Dec. 
Translation differences are recognised against the Group’s equity under ’Currency and calculation differences’.

2.8 Minority interests
The minority interests include the minority’s share of the carrying amount of subsidiaries, including the share of identified 
excess value on the date when a subsidiary is acquired.

Losses in a consolidated subsidiary that can be attributed to the minority interests cannot exceed the minority’s share of 
equity in the consolidated subsidiary. Excess losses are recognised against the equity holders of the parent in the subsidiary 
to the extent that the minority is not obligated and can incur its share of the loss. If the subsidiary starts making a profit, the 
majority’s share of the subsidiary’s equity shall be adjusted until the minority’s share of past losses is covered.

2.9 Valuation and classification of assets and liabilities
Assets assigned to permanent ownership or use are classified as fixed assets. Other assets are classified as current assets. 
Receivables that will be repaid within one year are in all cases classified as current assets. Analogue criteria are used to 
classify short-term and long-term debt.

Fixed assets are valued at original cost, but are written down to actual value when a lower value is expected to be perma-
nent. Fixed assets with a limited economic lifetime are systematically depreciated. Long-term debt is not written up to actual 
value as a result of changes in the interest rate. Current assets are valued at original cost or actual value whichever is the 
lower. Short-term debt is recorded on the balance sheet at the nominal received amount at the time the debt was estab-
lished. Short-term debt is not written up to actual value as a result of changes in the interest rate.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  
       
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individu-
ally significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is determined that 
no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset 
is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collec-
tively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or 
continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

2.10 Functional currency and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in NOK, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
Each entity in the group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity 
are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional 
currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences regarding retransla-
tion are included in the profit and loss account.         
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2.11 Transactions in foreign currency
Monetary items in foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate on the date of the balance sheet. Receivables and 
debt in currencies with material impact are secured with currency futures contracts. See Note 13 for further information.

2.12 Financial instruments
Q-Free classifies financial assets and liabilities according to IAS 39 in the following categories: fair value with changes in the 
value of the asset (held for trading), financial assets and liabilities held to maturity, financial assets available for sale, and 
other financial liabilities. 

Financial assets and liabilities related to continuing operations are valued at their amortised cost which in practice implies 
their nominal value with any write downs for anticipated losses. The Group’s borrowings are considered financial liabilities 
held to maturity. These are recognised at their amortised cost

All shares that are not in subsidiaries or associates on the balance sheet at 31 Dec 2006 are defined as financial instru-
ments at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets at fair value are capitalised at their fair value based on market 
price on the stock exchange on the date of balance sheet recognition. Certain equity instruments are not traded in an active 
market and their value is based on other relevant valuation models. Changes in the value of financial assets at fair value are 
recognised through profit or loss.

2.13 Research and development
Expenses for research activities are recognised as they accrue.

Expenses related to development activities are capitalised if the development activities comply with defined criteria for 
balance sheet recognition. Capitalisation assumes it is possible to identify the intangible asset to be developed and to 
demonstrated that it is likely that the development work will be successful, and that the future financial benefits attached to 
the intangible asset will accrue to the enterprise. Depreciation is carried out using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lifetime. The estimated useful lifetime is continuously evaluated.

If the criteria are satisfied, expenses recognised on the balance sheet will include the cost of materials, direct payroll 
expenses and a percentage of the directly attributable administrative expenses. Capitalised development costs are  
recognised on the balance sheet at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and write-downs.

2.14 Tangible fixed assets/depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are valued at original cost and depreciated. New acquisitions are capitalised and depreciated if 
considered to have an economic lifetime of more than three years. Improvements to existing business assets are capitalised 
and depreciated using the straight-line method over the remaining economic life. Projected residual value is taken into 
account when stipulating the depreciation plan. Remaining estimated useful life and estimated residual value are assessed 
every year. Direct maintenance of business assets are expensed continuously under operating costs. If the tangible fixed 
asset’s value is lower than the original cost and decline in value is not assumed to be temporary, an impairment will be 
recorded.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following periods of time:
- Machinery and lab equipment: 4 - 6 years
- Office and computer equipment: 3 - 5 years
- Building improvements:  5 - 7 years, distributed over the remaining rental periods.

2.15 Share based payment
The group has a share option program for key employees. To the extent share options or shares are issued to lower than 
market price, the difference between market price and issue price is reported as payroll expense.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured to fair value at grant date. The cost of equity-settled 
transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the year in which the performance 
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conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (vesting 
date). The market value of granted share options are measured by using ”Black & Scoles” model which take into considera-
tion time and conditions of the share options.

Social security tax is accrued each quarter for the difference between the market value and the excercise value of the 
granted but not exercised share options.

2.16 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred. Interest expenses on loans are recognised using the effective interest method 
of accounting.

2.17 Inventories
Inventories under manufacturing are estimated to the lowest of manufacturing cost and net realisable value. For finished 
goods, the net realisable value is calculated as the sales value less selling costs. For work in progress and finished  
products, the acquisition cost is calculated as direct and indirect costs. Inventories are assessed using the FIFO method.

2.18 Leases
Leases are classified as leasee finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The evaluation is based on the 
substance of the transaction. However, situations that individually would normally lead the Group to classify a lease as  
a financial lease is if the lease term is more than 75% of the estimated economic life or the present value of the minimum 
lease payments exceeds 90% of the fair value of the leased asset. Capitalized lease assets are depreciated over the  
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will 
obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Financial leases:
The Group presents financial leases in the financial statements as assets and liabilities, equal to the cost price of the asset 
or, if lower, the present value of the cash flow to the lease.  When calculating the present value of the lease the implicit 
interest cost in the lease is used when it can be determined. If it cannot be determined, the company’s marginal borrowing 
rate in the market is used. Direct costs relating to the lease are included in the asset’s cost price. Monthly rent is separated 
into an interest element and a repayment element. Interest costs are allocated to different periods, so that the interest cost 
for the remaining debt is the same in different periods.

Operational leases:
Leases for which most of the risk rests with the other contracting party are classified as operational leases. Lease payments 
are classified as operating costs.

2.19 Shares in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for according to the cost method in the parent company’s accounts. The invest-
ments are recognised at their fair value on the date of acquisition. Fair value is attributed to identifiable assets and liabilities. 
Excess value that cannot be assigned to identifiable assets is classified as goodwill.

2.20 Investment in shares
Investments in shares is classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of investments is 
determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments 
where there is no active market, fair value is determined applying commonly used valuation techniques.

2.21 Investment in associates 
Associates are companies in which the Group owns between 20 and 50 per cent and exercises significant influence. These 
investments are recognised by reporting the Group’s share of the companies’ profit/loss after tax, adjusted for the amortisa-
tion of excess values, if any. The balance sheet presents stakes at their cost price plus accumulated results, adjusted for the 
amortisation of excess values and dividends received, if any.
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2.22 Accounts receivable and other receivables
Accounts receivable and other receivables are entered at face value after deduction for provision for doubtful debts.  
Provision for doubtful debts is done on the basis of an individual assessment of all receivables.

2.23 Pension costs and pension assets and liabilities
Q-Free has defined benefit pension plan for all employees. Pension cost are calculated according to IAS 19. Net pension 
cost for the year includes estimated pension contribution including future salary growth, estimated return on pension funds 
and potential effects of changes in pension plans and estimates. Net pension cost is presented as payroll expense in the 
profit and loss statement. Pension funds and pension liabilities are valued based on best estimates adjusted annually based 
on actuary reports. The accumulated effects from changes in actuarial and economical assumptions are distributed over the 
remaining recognition period for the portion of the change exceeding more than 10% of the largest of pension liabilities and 
pension funds as of 1 January. The pension liabilities is secured through an insurance company.

2.24 Taxes
Tax is expensed as it accrues, i.e. the tax is related to the accounting net profit. Tax includes both payable tax (tax on the 
year’s taxable result) and changes in net deferred tax/tax assets. Income from long-term production contracts is not recog-
nised for tax purposes until an individual contract has been completed. A change in deferred tax/tax assets reflects future 
payable tax that arises as a result of the year’s activities. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are presented net in the  
balance sheet. Capitalisation of the deferred tax asset has been made on the basis of anticipated future earnings where  
the tax assets will be applicable.

Tax on group contribution given from the parent company and tax on group contribution that is entered directly against 
equity, is entered directly against payable tax in the balance sheet. Deferred tax asset is calculated at nominal value in  
both the company accounts as well as the consolidated accounts.

Deferred taxes are calculated on net tax-increasing differences between the balance sheet items used for accounting 
purposes and those used for taxation purposes, adjusted for temporary tax-decreasing differences and tax losses carried 
forward according to the liability method.

2.25 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand and at bank. Cash equivalents are short-term liquid investments that can be converted into 
cash within six months and to a known amount, and which contain insignificant risk elements.

2.26 Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared according to the indirect method. As cash is considered deposit at call in bank or 
similar fincancial institutions. Consented, not full-drawn bank overdrafts is not considered liquid capital. All items in the  
cash-flow statement is net effects from the continued operation  unless stated otherwise.

2.27 Events after the balance sheet date
New information on the company’s positions at the balance sheet date is taken into account in the annual financial state-
ments. Events after the balance sheet date that do not affect the company’s position at the balance sheet date, but which 
will affect the company’s position in the future, are stated if significant. There are no such events in 2007.

2.28 Business segments
The group’s primary segment is business area. The secondary segment is geographical market areas. The information  
is reported geographically based on the location of the customer. Note 3 specifies the groups reporting segments.

2.29 IFRSs and IFRIC Interpretations not yet effective
IAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures. The amendment requires additional 
disclosures to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
managing capital. The Group will apply the amendment to IAS 1, from annual periods beginning 1 January 2007.
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IFRS 7 – Financial Instrument: Disclosures. IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial 
instruments. The Group will apply IFRS 7 from annual periods beginning 1 January 2007.

IFRS 8 – Operating Segments. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporting.  IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be 
identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating 
decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performances.  IFRS 8 also requires addi-
tional disclosures, including information about how the entity identifies its operating segments and the types of products  
and services from which each segment derives its revenues.  The Group will apply IFRS 8 from annual periods beginning  
1 January 2009.

IFRIC 7 – Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies.  
IFRIC 7 provides guidance on how to apply the requirements of IAS 29 in a reporting period in which an entity identifies  
the existence of hyperinflation in the economy of its functional currency, when the economy was not hyperinflationary  
in the prior period.  The Group will apply IFRIC 7 from annual periods beginning 1 January 2007.

IFRIC 8 – Scope of IAS 2. IFRIC 8 requires consideration of transactions involving the issuance of equity instruments – 
where the identifiable consideration received is less than the fair value of the equity instruments issued – to establish whether 
or not they fall within the scope of IFRS 2.  The Group will apply IFRIC 8 from annual periods beginning 1 January 2007.

IFRIC 9 – Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives. IFRIC 9 requires an entity to assess whether an embedded deriva-
tive is required to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative when the entity first becomes a 
party to the contract. Subsequent reassessment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that 
significantly modifies the cash flows that otherwise would be required under the contract, in which case reassessment is 
required. The Group will apply IFRIC 9 from annual periods beginning 1 January 2007.

IFRIC 10 – Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment. IFRIC 10 prohibits the impairment losses recognised in an 
interim period on goodwill, investments in equity instruments and investments in financial assets carried at cost to be 
reversed at a subsequent balance sheet date. The Group will apply IFRIC from annual periods beginning 1 January 2007.

IFRIC 11 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions. IFRIC addresses how to apply IFRS 2 – Share-based Payment to 
share-based payment arrangements involving an entity’s own equity instruments or equity instruments of another entity in 
the same group. The Interpretation requires a share-based arrangement in which an entity receives goods or services as 
consideration for its own equity-instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, 
regardless of how the equity instruments needed are obtained.  The Group will apply IFRIC 11 from annual periods begin-
ning 1 January 2008.

IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Arrangements. IFRIC 12 addresses how service concession operators should apply 
existing IFRSs to account for the obligations they undertake and rights they receive in service concession arrangements.  
The Group will apply IFRIC from annual periods beginning 1 January 2008.

The Group expects that adoption of the pronouncements listed above will not impact on the Group’s financial statements  
in the period of initial application.

Note 3 Segment information

Financial information on segment reporting is according to business area and geographical segment. Historically the 
primary reporting segment was business areas, this was based on reporting in the group’s management structure.  
The group had two main business areas and these were the Tolling Division and the Ticketing Division. The Ticketing 
Division was demerged in 2005 so there has been no transactions in this business area in 2006. The figures  
for business areas are shown to have comparable figures historically.
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Tolling Division (Continued operations):
The traditional products related to products and services within Road User Charging systems has been the main focus and 
core business of Q-Free since the initial installations in 1986. The market strategy since 2004 has been to provide technology 
and products to secure the toll road operators cash flow. The main portion of revenue is sale of infrastructure (toll stations) 
based on electronic toll collection systems and on board units in cars.

Ticketing Division (Discontinued operations):
The ticketing division includes development and deliveries of electronic fare collection systems, from stand alone product 
sales to projects in which the company is a key supplier and system integrator. The products offered include software and 
hardware for vehicles, in addition to other products, and a new generation of ticketing systems currently being developed.  
In 2005 the ticketing business was demerged from Q-Free with effect from the end of Q2. This means that the numbers are 
included only for 6 months in 2005. 

Pricing between business areas are according to arm length’s principles.

For specifications regarding assets, investments and cash flow for business areas, see the 2005 Annual Report for the 
Group. Since the ticketing division was demerged in 2005, the groups consolidated financials are equal to the Tolling division.

Profit and loss reporting  31-12-06   31-12-05
 Continued Discontinued  Continued Discontinued
NOK 1.000 operations operations Total operations operations Total

Revenue 386 942 0 386 942 509 160 17 801 526 961

Cost of goods sold 154 104 0 154 104 233 300 3 438 236 738

Payroll expenses 78 724 0 78 724 74 859 10 043 84 902

Other operating expenses 107 726 0 107 726 79 317 21 549 100 866

Total operating expenses before depreciation 340 554 0 340 554 387 476 35 029 422 505

Operating profit before depr. - EBITDA 46 387 0 46 387 121 684 -17 228 104 456

Depreciation 17 015 0 17 015 16 314 618 16 931

Operating profit - EBIT 29 373 0 29 373 105 371 -17 846 87 525

Financial income 31 819 0 31 819 23 796 301 24 097

Financial expenses -16 167 0 -16 167 -10 494 -257 -10 750

Net financial items 15 652 0 15 652 13 303 44 13 347

Pretax profit 45 024 0 45 024 118 674 -17 802 100 872

Tax expenses -11 157 0 -11 157 -6 358 0 -6 358

Profit after tax 33 868 0 33 868 112 316 -17 802 94 514

Minority interests -1 687 0 -1 687 -574 0 -574

Profit 32 181 0 32 181 111 742 -17 802 93 940

Gross margin 39,8 0,0 39,8 45,8 80,7 44,9

EBITDA margin 12,0 0,0 12,0 23,9 -96,8 19,8

EBIT margin 7,6 0,0 7,6 20,7 -100,3 16,6

Profit margin 8,8 0,0 8,8 22,1 -100,0 17,9
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The secondary business area definition is geographical areas. The group’s activities is mainly in the following regions:  
Europe, Latin America and Asia Pacific. The split is based on the customer’s geographical location. e

Note 4 Other operating income

The Group has received governmental grants of a total of NOK 5.681.981,- in 2006. Corresponding figures for 2005 was 
NOK 306.375,-.

Approximatly 95% of the governmental grants is contribution from an EU project within ’eSafety-Cooperative Systems for 
Road Transport’ under the Sixth Framework Research Programme. The CVIS project (Cooperative Vehicle-Infrastructure 
Systems) is a 4-year project in the period 2006-2009 with 75 European partners. Q-Free is a central partner in the project 
and is specificly involved in the development of the overall architecture and the wireless communication solutions. The 
objective of CVIS is to develop and demonstrate technology enabling continuous communication between vehicles and the 
roadside infrastructure. Such cooperative vehicle-infrastructure systems will allow new traffic information-sharing services 
for greater safety, efficiency and a better environment.

The remaining 5% of the grants is contribution from NORAD regarding a study for outsourcing of production capacity to 
China and an EU-project called Safespot.

The Group has also received governmental tax relief for 2006 through SkatteFUNN. This is a tax deduction scheme which 
aim is to increase innovation and enhance value creation in trade and industry. The group has two programs approved for 
tax deduction in 2006. The tax deduction of total NOK 1.600.000,- is accounted as a reduction of personell expenses.  
See Note 6 for further information.

Note 5 Changes in the group structure

During 2006 the group has merged three 100% owned subsidiaries into one company. Q-Free Magcom AS, Micro Design 
AS and Mobiliser AS is merged into Noca Holding AS. The merger is completed to simplify the group structure. Non of these 
companies has a profit and loss account or a balance sheet that has a material effect on the groups consolidated financials 
per 31.12.2006. All entities in this business combinations are 100% controlled by Q-Free ASA and the transaction is carried 
out according to the pooling of interest method.

NOK 1.000   31-12-06

 Revenue % of total Assets Investments

Europe 303 134 78 371 780 26 053

Asia Pacific 63 936 17 44 507 360

Latin America 19 872 5 9 848 93

Total 386 942 100 426 135 26 506

NOK 1.000   31-12-05

 Revenue % of total Assets Investments

Europe  386 384 76 380 591 40 293

Asia Pacific  69 572 14 40 731 192

Latin America  53 204 10 8 237 8 655

Total  509 160 100 429 558 49 140
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Note 6 Salaries and personnel related expenses

Payments to senior management and board of directors:

* The companys cost of share based payment is calculated with the Black & Scholes pricing model. For 2006 this adds up to  
  a total cost of NOK 1.479.140,-. Corresponding figures for 2005 was NOK 2.370.308,-. See this specified in the Statement  
  of changes in Equity (Group).
** These employees were the former senior management until 01.12.2006.
*** Geir Ove Kjesbu held the position as CEO until 01.09.2006. Øyvind Isaksen entered the position 01.09.2006. 

The CEO has a performance bonus linked to achieved saleslevel, level of earnings and quality goals. The upper limit for the 
bonus is 80% of the fiscal years salary. The company has no obligations to the CEO in the event of resignation beyond the 
ordinary six months’ notice. The CEO has 675.000 share options in the company.

No loans or guarantees have been provided to the Chief Executive Officer , Board members, sharesholders or close 
associates of these individuals.

The former CEO Mr. Geir Ove Kjesbu has an agreement that the company will cover all expenses in relation with the MBA 
program attended to INSEAD. The upper limit for this remuneration  is NOK 850.000,-. The education will be finished within 
31 December 2007.

   Taxable benefit on Pension Other
NOK 1.000 Salary Bonus exercise of options* service cost remuneration TOTAL

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen, Chairman of the Board 0 0 1 996,0 0 187,5 2 183,5

Harald Arnet, Board member 0 0 998,0 0 137,5 1 135,5

Christian Albech, Board member 0 0 998,0 0 137,5 1 135,5

Kristin Braa, Board member 0 0 0 0 129,1 129,1

Torild Skogsholm, Board member 0 0 0 0 62,5 62,5

Pål Rune Johansen, Employee representative 0 0 0 0 31,3 31,3

Anders Hagen, Employee representative 0 0 0 0 31,3 31,3

***Øyvind Isaksen, CEO 616,7 250,0 0 41,3 0 908,0

Marianne Sandal, Vice President Operations 95,8 0 0 7,8 0 103,6

***Geir Ove Kjesbu, Vice President R&D 1 407,5 175,0 1 996,0 56,6 0 3 635,1

Roar Østbø, CFO 1 118,4 123,8 190,0 93,2 0 1 525,4

Oddvar Solemsli, Marketing Director 778,7 93,8 220,0 90,1 0 1 182,5

**Per Jarle Furnes, CTO 694,9 0 0 55,0 0 749,9

**Inge Tennås, Supply Chain Manager 565,1 75,0 371,7 67,8 0 1 079,6

**Oliver Skisland, Project Manager 593,1 71,5 220,0 48,6 0 933,2

**Roger Hegglund, Service & Maintenance Manager 522,1 56,3 220,0 27,2 0 825,5

**Espen Moseng, Project Engineering Manager 571,0 68,8 264,7 40,7 0 945,2

TOTAL 6 963,3 914,0 7 474,4 528,2 716,6 16 596,6

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006     2006 2005

 41 371 000 44 316 895  Salaries   74 010 510 68 398 385

 7 793 641 7 764 335  Social security   9 978 186 9 616 126

 2 066 553 2 218 419  Pension costs   3 362 745 2 439 384

 0 -1 600 000  Skattefunn (governmental tax relief)   -1 985 000 0

 3 950 959 -11 213 870  Other personnel related expenses   -6 641 973 4 447 263

 -10 042 575 0  Salaries, wages etc., discontinued operations    0 -10 042 575

 45 139 578 41 485 779  Total   78 724 468 74 858 583

 84 89  Average number of employees   188 181

 82 88  Average number of man-years   188 177
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Principles for remuneration and other employment terms for the CEO and senior management.
The Board has decided to propose to the 2007 Annual General Meeting principles for remuneration and other employment 
terms for the CEO and the members of the senior management. The principles for remuneration and other employment 
terms can be summarised as follows.

The guiding principles is that remuneration and other employment terms for company management shall be competitive to 
ensure that Q-Free can attract and retain skilled persons in the management. The fixed salary element shall be competitive 
and reflect the individual’s area of responsibility and performance. In addition to the fixed salary, a variable salary (bonus) 
may be paid. The variable salary element may amount to a maximum of 80% for the CEO and maximum 40% for the 
management team of the fixed annual salary and be based on Q-Free’s fulfillment of certain improvement related goals, 
financial goals and/or other performance related goals. The set of goals are decided annually by the Board of Q-Free and 
may be related to, for example, financial targets, research & development progress, quality performance and/or specific 
individual improvement targets. In addition to the fixed and variable salary, normally other customary benefits, such as 
company car may be provided in individual cases. In individual cases, other benefits like newspapers/magazines, private 
phone and internet subscription are provided.

In addition to pension benefits provided by law and collective agreements, the members of the management may be offered 
individual pension solutions. With regard to notice of termination of employment for management, the notification period is 
mutually 6 months. For CEO, the termination period is extended with 2 months for each year of employment in the company, 
with a maximum termination period of 12 months. In individual cases, other principles for termination periods and severance 
pay may be considered. Share options may be granted to the CEO and management team if a share option program has 
been approved by the Annual General Meeting.

Audit fees
The group has the following audit related fees: (All figures excl. VAT)

Related parties
The company has received invoices for consultancy services from Spinoza AS that totals NOK 370.300,-. Spinoza AS is 
owned by the chairman of the board Ole Jørgen Fredriksen. NOK 187.250,- of these invoices is accounted as debt per 
31.12.06 and paid in january 2007. All transactions between related parties is based on arm length’s principles and the 
invoicing is according to an agreement beetween the Group and the Chairman of the Bord concerning consultancy services.

For further information regarding related parties se Note 18 for subsidiaries. 

Associated companies
There has been no transactions between the group and its associated companies in 2006.

Share option programme for employees
Q-Free ASA established in 2003 a three year share option program for key employees including the Board of Directors, 
totalling 5% of all shares at the time (2,286,496 shares). The share option program which started in 2003 ended in  
May 2006.

Q-Free ASA established in May 2006 a new three year share option program. According to the Board’s proposal it was 
unanimously resolved that the Board, as part of the work of giving key personnel, management and Board members elected 
by the shareholders an incentive program, through the possibility to subscribe shares in the company, the Board of Directors 

 2006 2006 2005 2005
 Parent comp. Group Parent comp. Group

Audit services 458 850 768 999 919 950 1 269 436

Other audit related services 23 400 25 900 71 649 80 449

Tax services 285 185 364 151 402 986 480 876

Other , non audit related services 69 089 71 589 128 150 129 150

Total 836 524 1 230 640 1 522 735 1 959 911
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is authorized to increase the share capital with as much as NOK 969,000, which correspond with 2,550,000 shares 
 (approximately 5%), each with a par value of NOK 0.38, through one or more private placements with cash deposits towards 
key personnel, management and Board members elected by the shareholders in Q-Free ASA. The existing shareholders 
preferential rights according to the Public Limited Companies Act sections 10-4 and 10-5 can be disregarded. The authori-
zation is valid for 2 years from the date of this resolution.

The authorization regards the implementation of a share options program in Q-Free ASA, which runs over a period of 3 years 
for key personnel and management, and 2 years for Board Members elected by the shareholders. As much as 600,000 shares 
are reserved for Board Members elected by the shareholders, and the remaining 1,950,000 shares are reserved the share 
options program for key personnel and management. There will not be paid any option premium. The strike price shall be equal 
to the average rate for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange on closing time the last 14 days prior to and the 
first 14 days subsequent to the ordinary General Meeting in the same year as the subscription of the shares.

For key personnel and management, who are awarded option rights for a period of 3 years, as much as 1/3 of the option 
can be exercised annually. Consequently, as much as ½ of the option can be exercised annually for Board Members elected 
by the shareholders. For new employed key personnel, management and Board members, the strike price will be determined 
on the day they join the share options program. Reservations are made regarding the General Meetings approval in 2007 
and 2008 for the proposed final part of the option program. Furthermore, the intervals for the exercise of the options shall  
be determined.

By 31.12.2006, 1 800 000 shares have been awarded key personnel, of which 600 000 shares have been granted to the 
Board of directors.

Market value of the share options is estimated at the time they are granted and expensed over the period the share options 
are earned. Expenses is amounting to NOK 0,6 mill in 2006 regarding the new share option programme. Average market 
value for the share option is NOK 1,44 for shares granted in 2006.

Share options granted in 2006 are not earned before 2 Mai 2007.

Specification of granted share options:

Average share price for exercised share options in 2006 was NOK 22,30. Market value on time for granting the share 
options was NOK 5 842 200.

Remaining share options has the following conditions:

 2006 2005 2004 2003

Remaining share options 01.01 1 365 000 1 063 334 1 024 335 0

Share options granted 1800 000 566 666 600 000 1 075 000

Share options exercised 1365 000 -265 000 -511 001 0

Share options expired 0 0 -50 000 -50 665

Remaining share options 31.12 1 800 000 1 365 000 1 063 334 1 024 335

Portion fully earned 0 1 365 000 1 063 334 1 024 335

year Expiry date Average Number

Year 1 07-05-09 22,04  700 000 

Year 2 07-05-09 * 700 000

Year 3 07-05-09 * * 400 000
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* The strike price shall be equal to the average rate for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange on closing time 
the last 14 days prior to and the first 14 days subsequent to the ordinary General Meeting in 2007. For new employed key 
personnel, management and Board members, the strike price will be determined on the day they join the share options 
program.

** The strike price shall be equal to the average rate for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange on closing time 
the last 14 days prior to and the first 14 days subsequent to the ordinary General Meeting in 2008. For new employed key 
personnel, management and Board members, the strike price will be determined on the day they join the share options 
program. 

Remaining share options are split as follows between management and members of the Board as per 31.12.2006:

Market value of share options are estimated according to Black & Scholes pricing model. Average market value of granted 
share options in 2006 is NOK 1,44.

The following assumptions are used in the calculation of share options:
Exercise price for the share option
The strike price shall be equal to the average rate for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange on closing time 
the last 14 days prior to and the first 14 days subsequent to the ordinary General Meeting in the same year as the subscrip-
tion of the shares. For new employed key personnel, management and Board members, the strike price will be determined 
on the day they join the share options program.

Volatility
The calculation is based on historic volatility as an indicator for future expected volatility. Future expected volatility is 47,7 %. 

Lifetime of the share option
The calculation is based on 75% of the employees and 90% of the Board members will exercise the share options at the 
time they are granted. All share options shall be exercised prior to 7 May 2009. Reservations are made regarding the 
General Meetings approval in 2007 and 2008 for the proposed final part of the option program.

Dividends
Expected dividends per share is NOK 0 each year.

Interest with no premium for risk
Interest with no premium for risk is used when calculating , this equals interest on long term state bonds 3.0 % for 2006. 

  Granted Earned Exercised Remaining
Name Position options options options options

Øyvind Isaksen CEO 225 000 0 0 225 000

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen Chairman 100 000 0 0 100 000

Christian Albech Member 50 000 0 0 50 000

Harald Arnet Member 50 000 0 0 50 000

Kristin Braa Member 50 000 0 0 50 000

Torild Skogsholm Member 50 000 0 0 50 000

Geir Ove Kjesbu VP R&D 50 000 0 0 50 000

Marianne Sandal VP Operation 50 000 0 0 50 000

Steinar Furan QA Manager 15 000 0 0 15 000

Stein Tore Nybrodahl HR Manager 15 000 0 0 15 000

Per Jarle Furnes CTO 15 000 0 0 15 000

Other employees  30 000 0 0 30 000

Total  700 000 0 0 700 000
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Note 7 Pension scheme

The majority of the employees in Norway are included in a pension plan which entitles them to certain benefits for pension 
in the future. The pension benefits are mainly dependable on numbers of years employed, level of salaries at age of 
retirement and size of payments. The foreign subsidiaries have no pension plans.

The pension plans for the norwegian companies are secured in an insurance company. The liability for the group includes 
128 employees in 2006, compared to 114 employees for 2005. The liability for the parent company includes 78 employees in 
2006, compared to 84 employees for 2005.

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006     2006 2005

 1 624 173 1 928 012  Net present value of current year’s pension earnings  2 949 559 2 105 680

 501 803 682 406  Interest on accrued pension liabilities   1 113 575 757 487

 -436 271 -565 617  Expected interest on pension funds   -975 366 -793 740

 124 242 70 114  Amortisation of deferred deviations   70 114 124 242

 0 125 609  Administrative expenses pension scheme   251 218 70 667

 252 605 315 914  Accrued social security expenses   480 683 175 048

 2 066 552 2 556 438  Net pension expenses   3 889 783 2 439 384

 31.12.05 31.12.06  Pension liabilities / (-funds)   31.12.06 31.12.05

 11 887 923 18 688 064  Estimated pension liabilities   28 038 902 18 640 878

 -8 999 828 -11 410 090  Estimated pension funds   -19 267 112 -16 292 490

 2 888 095 7 277 974  Estimated net (pension funds) / -liabilities   8 771 790 2 348 388

 -2 709 203 -7 315 181   Unrecognised change in pension plan and deviation in estimates -9 185 487 -3 648 279

 178 892 -37 207  Net (pension funds) / -liabilities   -413 697 -1 299 891

 178 892 -37 207  Net (pension funds) / -liabilities in balance sheet  -413 697 -1 299 891

 30 22  Estimated remaining contribution periods   20 26

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
Pension liabilities: 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 

Liabilities per 01.01. 11 887 923 9 904 079 8 727 150 18 640 879 15 689 060 13 987 167

Service costs 1 928 012 1 624 173 1 322 600 2 949 559 2 542 707 1 715 816

Benefits paid -128 460 -84 120 0 -329 983 -290 364 -128 052

Interest cost 682 406 415 038 548 005 1 113 575 573 592 732 999

Past service cost 0 28 753 0 0 125 883 0

Actuarial gains/losses  4 318 183 0 -693 676 5 664 872 0 -618 870

Total liabilities per 31.12. 18 688 064 11 887 923 9 904 079 28 038 902 18 640 878 15 689 060

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
Pension funds: 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Funds per 01.01. 8 999 828 6 778 432 8 230 565 16 292 491 13 796 929 14 311 531

Net contribution paid 2 308 909 1 982 386 1 636 452 3 029 299 2 520 604 1 751 162

Benefits paid -128 460 -84 120 -2 046 017 -329 983 -290 364 -2 174 069

Estimated return on assets 565 617 372 097 0 975 366 384 955 362 613

Actuarial gains/losses  -335 804 -48 967 -1 042 568 -700 062 -119 634 -454 308

Total funds per 31.12. 11 410 090 8 999 828 6 778 432 19 267 111 16 292 490 13 796 929

The Group is presenting comparable figures for the pension plan for the last three years. Because of changes in the Group 
structure during 2004 the Group can not provide actuarial information prior to 2004 and this is also assumed to be immaterial.

The Group expect to contribute approximatly kr. 3.000.000,- to its defined benefit pension plans in 2007.
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Basis and assumptions for calculations:
The assumptions are according to the recommendation of the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway for both 2004, 
2005 and for 2006. 

The Group’s pension fund is managed by Vital Forsikring Finansforvaltning, an insurance company.  For 2006 the dividend 
yield was 8,1%. The funds are distributed as follows:

 2006 2005 2004

Discount rate  4,50 % 4,50 % 5,00 %

Expected interest on pension funds  5,50 % 5,50 % 6,00 %

Annual growth in salaries  4,50 % 3,30 % 3,30 %

Increase in national insurance base rate (G)  4,25 % 3,50 % 3,50 %

Expected change in pensions  1,60 % 2,50 % 2,50 %

Social security expenses  14,10 % 14,10 % 14,10 %

Corridor  10,00 % 10,00 % 10,00 %

Expected years after retirement Male  15,5 years

 Female 17,8 years

Expected voluntarily early retirement Before 40 years 2-4 % 2-4 % 2-4 %

 After 40 years 2 % 2 % 2 %

 2006 2005 2004

Shares  30 % 23 % 17 %

Obligations  21 % 18 % 18 %

Money market  5 % 17 % 17 %

Long term obligations  30 % 27 % 33 %

Property  13 % 12 % 12 %

Other  3 % 3 % 3 %

Total  100 % 100 % 100 %

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006  Inventory specification:   2006 2005

 14 739 359 15 277 590  Raw material and semi manufactured products   25 136 503 20 924 527

 129 898 117 055  Stock for sub supplier   117 055 129 898

 3 431 368 3 431 368  Stock for maintenance contracts   3 431 368 3 431 368

 0 0  Work in progress   7 448 460 6 208 402

 17 258 170 16 817 821  Finished goods   20 361 599 17 258 170

 -279 421 -4 147 797  Obsolescence   -4 447 797 -579 421

 35 279 374 31 496 037  Total   52 047 188 47 372 944

Note 8 Inventory and costs of goods sold   

Inventory: 

All inventories is valuated at lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost of goods sold:

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006  COGS specification:   2006 2005

 231 189 005 130 314 716  Purchase of goods   162 514 810 252 905 040

 313 208 86 737  Freight, customs etc.   613 944 805 325

 198 509 63 046  External services handling of COGS   63 046 217 582

 -19 374 777 -4 704 188  Change of inventories   -9 087 474 -20 628 245

 212 325 945 125 760 311  Total   154 104 326 233 299 702
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Note 9 Intangible assets and tangible fixed assets

PARENT COMPANy
  Development Machinery  
   and fixtures  Total

Acquisition cost as of 01.01 48 133 660 65 519 490  113 653 150

Additions   16 762 254 13 526 290  30 288 544

Disposals 0 0  0

Acquisition cost as of 31.12 64 895 914 79 045 780  143 941 694

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs as of 1.1 37 166 453 40 417 208  77 583 661

Depreciation and write-downs of the year 5 009 293 8 380 117  13 389 410

Accumulated depreciation disposals 0 0  0

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs as of 31.12 42 175 746 48 797 325  90 973 071

Net book value as of 01.01 10 967 207 25 102 282  36 069 489

Total changes of the year 11 752 961 5 146 173  16 899 134

Net book value as of 31.12 22 720 168 30 248 455  52 968 623

Economical lifetime 4-5 years 3-7 years  

Depreciation schedule Straight line Straight line  

Securities for bank guarantees and overdraft facility
As of 31.12.06 assets in the parent company valued to NOK 30.248.455,- is pledged as security for guarantee facility and 
overdraft facility in DnB NOR Bank ASA.

GROUP
  Development Machinery  
   and fixtures  Total

Acquisition cost as of 01.01 49 504 358 106 781 003  156 285 361

Additions   16 762 254 14 951 286  31 713 540

Disposals 0 0  0

Acquisition cost as of 31.12 66 266 612 121 732 289  187 998 901

Accumulative depreciation and write-downs as of 1.1 37 724 507 64 697 443  102 421 950

Depreciation and write-downs of the year 5 253 673 11 760 960  17 014 633

Accumulated depreciation disposals 0 0  0

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs as of  31.12 42 978 180 76 458 403  119 436 583

Net book value as of 01.01 11 779 851 42 083 560  53 863 411

Total changes of the year 11 508 581 3 190 326  14 698 907

Net book value as of 31.12 23 288 432 45 273 886  68 562 318

Economical lifetime 4-5 years 3-7 years

Depreciation schedule Straight line Straight line

Development 
The group capitalises costs regarding development activities. Capitalised costs for 2006 consist of development of a new 
generations of OBU’s and road side units that is a part of the companys toll road systems. Furtermore the company has 
capitalised cost that prepares the company’s products for future wireless communication solutions that enables continuous 
communication between vehicles and the roadside infrastructure. Such cooperative vehicle-infrastructure systems will allow 
new traffic information-sharing services for greater safety, efficiency and a better environment.

For 2006 research-expenses included in the P&L has been immaterial.
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Capitalised costs mainly consists of salary incl. social expenses, purchase of materials, as well as external services. 
Development is depreciated over the products expected lifetime. The estimated useful lifetime is continuously evaluated.

Q-Free expects to receive income covering the capitalised  R&D costs. 

Note 10 Leases

The leasing obligation and the book value of the leased equipment materially differs due to the fact that the debt related to 
the leased equipment already is partly repaid.

Estimated period of lease is 5 years from time of investment.

The leasing agreement is valid until one of the parties gives a written notice. Mutual term of notice is six months. If the 
agreement is terminated, Q-Free is obligated to purchase from the supplier already produced goods at fixed prices, received 
raw materials and other commitments that can not be cancelled, and cover expenses in relation to started production. 
Remaining lease payments are NOK 1.642.106,- where NOK 600.000,-is due within one year.

In case the agreement is terminated, Q-Free has a right of and a duty to repurchase any production equipment, that is  
the property of the supplier and which is invested specifically for Q-Free products. The repurchase price is set equal to  
the investment value (including incurred interest), less depreciated value (including interest) at the date of repurchase.  
When the investment is fully depreciated according to plan, the repurchase value is set to NOK 0. 

GROUP
    2006 2005

Capitalised financial leases

Fixed assets

Machinery and equipment leased as fixed assets   2 515 119 4 222 966

This year depreciations on leased fixed assets   718 605 571 953

Debt

Leasing obligations as long-term debt   1 042 106 0

The main part of leasing agreements not stated in the balance sheet is leasing of the companies facilities in Norway.  
Q-Free ASA is leasing its facilities in Trondheim from Tekno Byggutleie AS The leasing contract is running until 1 September 
2012, with an option for two more periods of five years. The other leasing contracts are running from one to five years.

   Leasing agreements not stated in balance sheet
1000 NOK  PARENT COMPANy   GROUP

Duration period Within 1 year 1 - 5 years Over 5 years Within 1 year 1 - 5 years Over 5 years

Annual lease of 
machinery and fixed assets 4 673 3 758 0 7 547 5 198 0

Operational leases:
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Note 11 Other operating expenses

Specification:

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006  Category   2006 2005

 0 4 713 362  Intercompany services   0 0

 49 991 079 46 362 911  External services   49 314 290 55 858 200

 11 752 284 13 178 111  Travelling expenses   14 678 575 12 812 099

 332 207 1 375 527  Licence fee and royalties   1 375 527 497 613

 12 262 729 10 241 447  Rent, including remaining costs facilities   13 492 722 14 894 522

 1 007 789 1 116 255  Leasing machinery, cars, etc.    1 173 933 1 054 231

 11 141 0  Loss on contracts (receivable)   393 959 1 320 650

 12 881 910 15 903 971  Other costs   27 296 645 14 427 841

 -21 548 552 0  Net change from discontinued operations   0 -21 548 552

 66 690 587 92 891 584  Total   107 725 651 79 316 604

Note 12 Accruals 

The accrual for warranty costs is calculated depending on the remaining guarantee time for various products and based on 
the historical effect of defects and a calculation of probability for the defect to occur for the remaining products under 
guarantee.

  PARENT COMPANy   GROUP
 Accrual for Other  Accrual for Other
 warranty costs expenses TOTAL warranty costs expenses TOTAL

Amount as of 01.01.06 15 304 420 0 15 304 420 15 404 420 0 15 404 420

Unused accruals reversed during 2006 0  0 0  0

Accruals utilised during 2006 -15 304 420  -15 304 420 -15 304 420  -15 304 420

Accruals deposited during 2006 27 500 000 2 500 000 30 000 000 27 500 000 2 500 000 30 000 000

Amount as of 31.12.06 27 500 000 2 500 000 30 000 000 27 600 000 2 500 000 30 100 000

Note 13 Financial items

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans and overdrafts, convertible prefer-
ence shares, financial lease and trade payables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s 
operations. The Group has various financial assets as trade receivables and cash and short-term deposits, which arise 
directly from its operations.

The Group is exposed to a number of different financial market risks arising from our normal business activities. Financial 
market risk is the possibility that fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates will affect the value of our assets, 
liabilities or future cash flows. The management performs a continuous evaluation of these risks and determines policies 
related to how these risks are to be handled within the Company. 

The Company does not use financial instruments, hereunder financial derivatives, for speculation purposes.

Since the Group carries out international operations, it is exposed to a considerable interest-rate risk and exchange-rate 
risk. The Group makes use of derivatives to reduce these risks in accordance with the Group’s strategy for its interest-rate 
and exchange-rate exposure. The accounting treatment of financial derivatives is described in Note 2.12

Credit risk
The Group does business only with parties with a good credit record. All parties which are to receive credit in the Group,  
f.eg. Customers, are to be approved and they are evaluated with regards to credit record.
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The Group has no significant credit risk linked to an individual other contracting party or several other contracting parties 
that can be regarded as a group due to similarities in the credit risk.

The Group has guidelines for ensuring that sales are only made to customers that have not experienced any significant 
settlement problems, and that outstanding amounts do not exceed stipulated credit limits. 

The Group has not provided any guarantees for third parties’ liabilities. 

The maximum risk exposure is represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets, including derivatives, in the 
balance sheet. Since the other party involved in derivative trades is normally a bank, the credit risk linked to derivatives  
is regarded as being low. The Group therefore regards its maximum risk exposure as being the carrying amount of trade 
receivables (refer to Note 14) and other current assets. 

The Group is exposed to risk involved in customers not having the ability to fulfil their financial obligations. However, this risk 
is considered to be low since the Company’s customers are major IT companies, public authorities and key road conces-
sionaires in Norway and abroad. This is underscored by an historical low loss ratio on receivables. When the Company 
enters a new market, the credit risk will be assessed in each individual case and hedging measures assessed such as 
payment guarantees, to be implemented as required.  

Interest-rate risk
The Group has no considerable financing in interest bearing long term debt. It just a long term debt in Noca AS of NOK 
2.350.000,- and financial lease of NOK 1.642.238,-. The long term debt has floating interest and yearly instalment of NOK 
600.000,-.

Liquidity risk
The Q-Free ASA Group’s strategy is to have sufficient cash, cash equivalents or credit opportunities at any time to be able 
to finance its operations and investments over the next three years in accordance with the company’s strategy plan for the 
same period. Unutilised credit opportunities are discussed in Note 21.

Surplus liquidity is mainly invested in two different insurance company, which the purpose to get a high return at moderate risk on 
invested capital. 

Exchange-rate risk
The Group (primarily the parent company) is exposed to currency fluctuations, particularly with the Euro and US dollar as  
a considerable portion of the Q-Free ASA’s revenues is in foreign currency. Q-Free ASA uses futures contracts and other 
hedging instruments to reduce its currency risk and thus reduce the market risk.

The Group strategy is to combine likely future sale and purchase and hedge the net cash flow in the foreign currency by 
using forward/ future contracts. The effects of the forward/ future contracts as efficient hedging instruments are recognised 
with the transaction they are to hedge, while a possible inefficiency in the hedging is recognised as a finance cost. 

At 31 December 2006, the group held three forward exchange contracts as hedges of expected future sales to customers  
in the Europe. forward currency contracts are being used to hedge the foreign currency risk of the expected future sales. 
The terms of the contracts are as follows.
          
Forward contracts as of  31.12.06 Amount Maturity Exchange rate Fair value

Forward contracts to hedge expected future sales EURO 2 000 000 26-02-2007 8,0681 -339 800

Forward contracts to hedge expected future sales EURO 5 000 000 28-06-2007 8,297 295 000

Forward contracts to hedge expected future sales EURO 5 000 000 28-09-2007 8,299 305 000

Total per 31.12.2006    260 200

All forward/ future contracts are recognised at fair value.
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 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006  Specification   2006 2005

 6 560 003 6 300 052  Gain on exchange   9 243 839 8 583 712

 -7 787 992 -4 269 598  Loss on exchange   -5 883 873 -8 780 992

 -1 227 989 2 030 454  Total   3 359 966 -197 280

Foreign exchange:

Exchange loss and gain included in the P&L:

The following exchange rates is used when consolidating the group. 

   Currency rate Average  Currency rate
Currencies:   01-01-06 currency rate 31-12-06

Euros EUR 7,985 8,112 8,238

Australian dollar AUD 4,957 4,946 4,936

Malaysian Ringgit MYR 1,791 1,782 1,772

Brazil real BRL 2,909 2,920 2,930

US Dollar USD 6,769 6,512 6,255

Great Britain Pound GBP 11,652 11,960 12,268

Note 14 Accounts receivable

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006  Specification   2006 2005

 107 106 751 68 207 507  Customer receivables   95 469 150 132 116 576

 40 281 101 17 135 255  Receivables from group companies   0 0

 -31 005 609 -12 487 052  Provision for doubtful debts   -6 781 911 -6 781 911

 116 382 243 72 855 710  Total   88 687 239 125 334 665

 746 682 15 548 112  Loss on receivables   543 958 2 056 191

 -735 541 -14 348 112  Changes in provisions for doubtful debts   -150 000 -735 541

 11 141 -1 200 000  Total   393 958 1 320 650

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006  Specification   2006 2005

Note 15 On-going projects

The Group’s main business activity is to develop and manufacture products and systems based on orders received. The 
Group reports gross balance sheet values attached to long-term production contracts. Gross amounts due from custom-
ers for contract work (Projects in progress) are recognised on the balance sheet as an asset, and gross amounts due to 
customers for contract work (Prepayments from customers) are recognised on the balance sheet as a liability. Projects in 
progress are the net amount of accumulated operating revenues less accumulated invoicing for all ongoing contracts where 
accumulated operating revenues are higher than accumulated invoicing. Prepayments from customers are the net amount of 
accumulated operating revenues less accumulated invoicing for all ongoing contracts where accumulated invoicing is higher 
than accumulated operating revenues. 

Parent company and group   2006 2005

Revenue on-going projects   106 125 212 240 745 340

Expenses on-going projects   -41 406 467 -178 538 142

Profit on on-going projects   64 718 745 62 207 198

The group is not involved in any projects with expected loss pr. 31.12.06
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Note 16 Taxes

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006     2006 2005

   Total tax expenses for the year

 0 -15 221 500 Tax payable on this years profit for norwegian companies   -15 957 464 -485 799

 0 0 Tax payable on this years profit for foreign companies   -2 089 177 -5 690 427

 -182 272 0 Adjusted allocated tax from last year    0 -182 272

 -356 327 9 885 384 Change in deferred tax for norwegian companies   9 486 989 0

 0 0 Change in deferred tax for foreign companies   -2 596 867 0

 -538 599 -5 336 116 Total   -11 156 519 -6 358 498

 1 % 19 % Tax rate   25 % 5 %

   Tax payable for the year

 91 103 023 27 368 931 Ordinary profit before tax continued operations   45 024 420 118 674 010

 -17 801 552 0 Ordinary profit before tax discontinued operations   0 -17 801 552

 73 301 471 27 368 931 Total ordinary profit before tax   45 024 420 100 872 458

 -5 171 173 -8 311 333 Permanent differences   -8 513 523 -6 964 519

 -20 270 107 59 628 402 Change in temporary differences   58 295 447 -19 215 590

 -47 860 191 -24 323 500 Use of deficit put forward    -28 667 153 -53 927 202

 0 54 362 500 Basis for tax payable, norwegian companies   66 139 191 20 765 147

 0 15 221 500 Tax payable for norwegian companies (28%)   16 613 687 485 799

   Tax payable for foreign companies   2 089 176 5 690 427

   Specification of tax payable in the balance sheet     

 0 15 221 500 Tax payable on this years profit, norwegian companies   16 613 687 485 799

 0 0 Tax payable on this years profit, foreign companies   2 089 177 5 690 427

 0 0 Advance tax payment, foreign companies   0 -2 336 212

 0 -1 600 000 Governmental Tax Relief (skattefunn)   -1 600 000 0

 0 13 621 500 Total tax payable   17 102 864 3 840 014

   Specification on basis for deferred tax

   Differences evaluated to be offset:

 8 136 731 14 823 503 Fixed assets   15 646 283 7 347 263

 34 555 230 -17 846 657 Current assets   -20 554 222 32 600 432

 -17 055 161 -30 958 589 Liabilities   -30 682 099 -17 155 161

 -24 323 554 0 Tax losses carry -forward    -6 943 254 -26 442 634

 -40 648 -50 602 Other differences   -40 598 322 269

 1 272 598 -34 032 345 Total   -42 573 890 -3 327 831

 356 327 -9 529 057 Deferred tax (+) / tax assets (-)   -11 832 152 -942 698

   Deferred tax (-) / tax assets (+) in balance sheet of 31.12.

 356 327 -9 529 057 Tax assets (-)/ deferred tax (+) norwegian companies   -11 167 147 -779 120

 0 0 Tax assets (-)/ deferred tax (+) foreign companies   -665 005 -163 578

 0 0 Deferred tax asset, off balance sheet   0 942 698

 356 327 -9 529 057 Total tax assets (-) / deferred tax (+)   -11 832 152 0

   Reconsiling the tax cost

 20 524 412 7 663 301 Tax on accounting result   12 931 657 27 996 815

 -538 599 -5 336 116 Tax expenses   -11 156 519 -6 358 498

 19 985 813 2 327 185 Deviation   1 775 138 21 638 317
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Deferred tax assets are recognised on the balance sheet based on the expectation of future taxable income. The estimate 
are based on board of directors and management’s best judgement and an assessment of future prospects. The actual 
outcome of future tax costs may deviate from these estimates.

Of the tax losses carried forward of NOK 6.943.254 for the Group, NOK 2.343.653 relates to Norway and NOK 4.599.601 
relates to foreign companies. Following a change in the tax legislation in Norway in 2005, these tax losses can be carried 
forward indefinitely.

For 2005 NOK 25.897.374 of the tax losses carried forward for the Group, was related to Norway, and NOK 545.260,- was 
related to foreign companies.

Note 17 Earnings per share           

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent (after deducting interest on the convertible preference shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of 
all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

   2006 2005 2004

Ordinary result / annual result  32 181 029 93 939 973 -88 483 384

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  51 778 727 50 809 853 50 618 189

Weighted average of share option  65 685 355 316 157 623

Weighted average number of diluted shares  51 844 412 51 165 169 50 775 812

Earnings per share (NOK)  0,62 1,84 -1,90

Diluted earnings per share (NOK)  0,62 1,83 -1,89

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date 
and the date of completion of these financial statements.

Note 18 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries  Etablished Location Country Ownership Voting share

Q-Free Portugal Lda. 1997 Lisboa Portugal 100 % 100 %

Q-Free América Latina Ltda. 1998 Sao Paolo Brasil 100 % 100 %

Q-Free Australia Pty. Ltd. 1999 Sydney Australia 100 % 100 %

Q-Free Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 1997 Kuala Lumpur Malaysia 100 % 100 %

Noca Holding AS – Group (*) 2001 Trondheim Norway 100 % 100 %

Taiwan ETC Service Company 2003 Tapei Taiwan 40 % 40 %

Total     

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006     2006 2005

   Specification

 1 447 928 2 327 173 Tax result permanent differences   2 103 465 1 658 070

 -182 272 0 Adjusted allocated tax from last year   0 -182 272

 18 720 157 0 Change in deferred tax asset, off balance sheet   -328 327 20 193 893

 0 0 Change in deferred tax asset, off balance sheet demerger   0 0

 0 0 Remuneration on dividend paid   0 -31 374

 19 985 813 2 327 173 Total   1 775 138 21 638 317
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  Company’s Number of   Book value Book value Profit & (Loss)
Parent company and the Group share capital shares Ownership in Parent in Group over the P&L

FARA ASA ** 52 314 000 13 066 148 17,41 % 35 278 600 35 278 600 6 794 386

Leiv Eiriksson AS 32 360 000 9 919 0,99 % 320 364 320 364 12 564

Asti AS 8 880 000 2 900 13,81 % 1 226 328 1 226 328 142 467

Other    0 90 645 0

Total    36 825 292 36 915 937 9 657 915

Q-Free VOF, Nederland (ANS) *    19 765 19 765 0

Total    36 845 057 36 935 702 9 657 915

(*) Q-Free VOF Nederland is a Joint Venture company, established in 1998. The allotment has been shown after gross costs.  
(**) Shares in FARA ASA are valued at market value thus these shares are traded at Oslo Stock Exchange.   

Note 21 Cash and cash equivalents          

The group has a multipel currency account agreement in DnB NOR Bank ASA.

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006 Liquidity fund   2006 2005

 126 983 544 127 537 439 Total cash and cash equivalents   162 173 962 166 518 206

 2 993 174 3 159 993 Restricted funds for witholding tax   3 159 993 4 215 933

 123 990 370 124 377 446 Unrestricted liquid assets   159 013 969 162 302 273

Book value in parent company  Book value Book value Included in Companys equity Result after
of subsidiaries companies:  Cost 31.12.05 31.12.06 the P&L per 31.12.06 tax last year

Q-Free Portugal Lda.  203 925  203 925 203 925 0 993 171 199 104

Q-Free América Latina Ltda.  4 852 546  2 407 253 2 407 253 0 607 829 3 031 861

Q-Free Australia Pty. Ltd.  5  5 5 0 22 491 530 8 543 862

Q-Free Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  1 154 888  0 0 0 1 248 900 -601 763

Noca Holding AS – Group  4 592 446  5 027 559 5 027 559 0 15 729 560 3 810 645

Taiwan ETC Service company  2 656 842  0 0 0 0 0

Q-Free International Hellas S.A. (*)  521 635  521 634 0 -521 634 0 0

Total 13 982 287 8 160 376 7 638 742 -521 634 0 0

* Q-Free International Hellas S.A. was sold during 2006. The transaction is included in the P/&L was immaterial for the Group. 

Note 19 Investments in shares, associated companies

  Company’s Number of   Book value Book value Profit & (Loss)
Parent company and the Group share capital shares Ownership in Parent in Group over the P&L

Vegamot AS 4 355 000 6 050 13,90 % 0 0 -166 019

Total     0 -166 019

The Group’s ownership is diluted during 2006. The owership per 31.12.05 was 33,51% with a book value of NOK 166.019,-. 
The investment is presented as associated per 31.12.06 in order to show comparable figures to the last year.

Note 20 Investments in shares in other companies

(*) Q-Free ASA owns through Noca Holding AS indirectly 48,72 % in Noca AS. Q-Free ASA owns directly 4,76 % in Noca 
AS. Q-Free ASA’s owner share through indirectly and directly ownership in Noca AS therefore totals 53,48%.
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Note 22 Investor relations 

The company has one class of shares and there is no voting restrictions. Per 31.12.06 the number of shares was 
52.274.269. Face value per share is kr. 0,38. Total share capital per 31.12.2006 was kr. 19.864.222,22.

 Ordinary shares
      2006 2005

Shares issued per 01.01     50 909 269  50 644 269,00 

Share options excercised     1 365 000 265 000

Total shares issued per. 31.12.     52 274 269 50 909 269

     Number Percentage  
The company’s largest share holders per 31.12.06:   of shares ownership Voting rights

VERDIPAPIRFOND ODIN NORGE     4 612 100 8,82 % 8,82 %

TROJAN AS     3 540 200 6,77 % 6,77 %

VERDIPAPIRFONDET NORDEA VEKST     3 151 750 6,03 % 6,03 %

HAUAN CONSULTING AS     2 107 000 4,03 % 4,03 %

MONS HOLDING AS     2 080 000 3,98 % 3,98 %

HANDELSBANKEN MARKETS     1 751 940 3,35 % 3,35 %

SKAGEN VEKST     1 700 000 3,25 % 3,25 %

LARS ODDGEIR ANDRESEN     1 633 600 3,13 % 3,13 %

NORDEA LUX LENDING     1 523 000 2,91 % 2,91 %

JAN PIHL GRIMNES     1 425 000 2,73 % 2,73 %

WEGA AS     1 045 900 2,00 % 2,00 %

STIFTELSEN STATOILS PENSJONSKASSE     1 036 950 1,98 % 1,98 %

VERDIPAPIRFONDET NORDEA AVKASTNING     990 025 1,89 % 1,89 %

CREDIT AGRICOLE INVESTOR SERVICES     893 000 1,71 % 1,71 %

SAGA EQUITY FUND     879 500 1,68 % 1,68 %

KIKUT AS     850 000 1,63 % 1,63 %

VITAL FORSIKRING ASA     797 078 1,52 % 1,52 %

BANK OF NEW YORK, BRUSSELS BRANCH     703 763 1,35 % 1,35 %

VERDIPAPIRFONDET DANSKE FUND NOR     616 639 1,18 % 1,18 %

STATOIL FORSIKRING AS     607 300 1,16 % 1,16 %

Other share holders    20 329 524 38,89 % 38,89 %

Total    52 274 269 100,0 % 100,0 %

Number of shares held by the senior management, CEO and the board of directors per 31.12.06:

Name:      Position Shares

Øyvind Isaksen     CEO 15 000

Geir Ove Kjesbu     VP R&D 10 000

Marianne Sandal     VP Operations 0

Steinar Furan     QA Manager 18 000

Stein Tore Nybrodahl     HR Manager 0

Per Jarle Furnes     CTO 0

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen     Chairman 150 000

Christian Albech     Member 25 000

Harald Arnet     Member 25 000

Kristin Brå     Member 0

Torild Skogsholm     Member 0

Pål Rune Johansen     Employee repr. 0

Anders Hagen     Employee repr. 0

Total      243 000

At the end of 2006 1.800.000 shares are reserved according to the share option program descibed in note 4. 
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Note 23 Off balance sheet commitments

 PARENT COMPANy GROUP
 2005 2006    2006 2005

   Guarantees and loans secured by mortgage     

 0 0 Long-term liabilities   3 392 106 4 021 968

 0 0 Total   3 392 106 4 021 968

 44 804 345 24 527 280 Guarantees to customers, suppliers and 
   lease contracts secured by the following :   26 030 765 48 107 830

   Book value of assets securing mortgages and guarantees:

 126 307 833 72 855 710 Account receivable   88 687 239 131 116 268

 0 617 204 Revenue recognised, not invoiced   617 204 0

 35 279 374 31 496 037 Inventories   52 047 188 47 372 944

 25 102 282 30 248 455 Tangible assets   45 273 886 42 083 561

 186 689 489 135 217 406 Total   186 625 517 220 572 773





Time to live.
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